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ABSTRACT 

Smi th , Michael L ., The Role of Sam Houston in the Mier 
Expedition . Master of Artsi-History),- -- -­
August , 1969 , Sam Houston State University , Huntsville , 
Texas . 121 pp . 

Purp ose 

I t was the purpose o f this study to show the role 

of Sam Houston , as Pres ident of t he Republic of Texas , in 

the Mier expedition . Special atten t ion has been given to 

( 1 ) the r o le of Sam Houston in the organization of the 

expedition ; (2 ) the p a r t played by Sam Houston i n the 

actual operat i on o f t he expedition ; a nd ( 3 ) the f ailur e 

o f Sam Houston to aid the men of t he Mier expedition i n 

securing their rights as prisoners of war and their final 

r elease . 

Methods 

Th e methods used to obtain data for this study were 

( 1 ) the examination o f narratives and diaries of men who 

participated in the Mier exped i tion ; ( 2 ) the searching of 

auth oritative wo rks on the Mier exped i t i on and c onnected 

operations a n d events ; and ( 3 ) a vi sit to the site of t he 

major event of this study , the Battle of Mier in Mier , 

Mexico . 

Findings 

From the evidence present in this study the 

f ollowing findings seem to be subs ant i ated : 



1 . Sam Houston was influenced by the tide of 

pub lic opinion to call for an expedition against Mexico 

in 1842 . 

2 . Sam Houston , knowing that the Republic of Texa s 

could not fi nanc i ally sustain an extended ope r at i on against 

Mexico , deliberately limited the objectives of the 

expedition to merely ha rrassing the Mexic an settlements 

along t he Rio Grande . 

3 . Many of the men who joined the expedition were 

not satisfied with the limi tat i ons placed upon them by 

Sam Houston and attempted to extend the expedition . 

4 . These men were denounced by Sam Houston and 

their act i ons disclaimed by him. 

5 . Sam Houston was trying to avert a war with 

Mexico which Texas c ould not afford . 

6 . In trying to avert a war Sam Houston left the 

Mier prisoners pretty much to their own resources and , in 

so doing , f a iled to carry out his moral obligations to 

them as soldiers of the Republ1c of Texas . 

Approved : 

Supervising Professor 



TABLE OF CONTENTS 

CHAPTER PAGE 

I . TEXAS - MEXIC O FRONTIER 1842 . . . . . 1 

II . EVENTS ON THE SOUTHWESTERN FRONTIER , 1842 . 15 

III . THE SOMERVELL EXPEDITIO 

IV . THE BATTLE OF MIER AND I TS AFTERMATH 

V. THE OFFICERS MARCH .. 

VI . THE ENLISTED MEN ESCAPE I N THE 

BATTLE OF THE RESCUE .. . 

32 

58 

81 

91 

VII . RECAPTURE AND THE MARCH TO MEXICO CITY 99 

VIII . 

I X. 

IMPRISONMENT AT PEROTE 

SUMMARY AND CONCLUSION 

BIBLIOGRAPHY 

VITA .... 

108 

113 

118 

121 

V 



CHAPTER I 

TEXAS - MEXICO FRONTIER 1842 

The Mier expedit i on was the resul t of the frustra­

t i on of the people of Texas with t he government ' s inabi li~y 

to pro t ect its f r on t iers . The most critically exposed area 

was in the southwest along the lower reaches o f he Colorado 

River . The settlers i n this area h ad expected Sam Houston 

to follow an aggressive pol i cy toward the enemies of the 

republi c . Houston , h owever , followed ·a vacillating p ol icy 

that in time brought the people of Texas, in gene~al , and 

those on t he lower Colorado , in part i cul a r , to the po i n t of 

exasperat i on . 

During Houston 's fir st adminis trat i on a dispute a r ose 

over his dec ision to disband the regular army of the Republi c 

and h a lt the construct i on of a n a vy . The most disappointed 

gr oup in the Republic was t h e settlers on the s outhwes tern 

fron tier . Its expectations f or relief r ose with t he election 

of Mirabeau B . Lamar as Houston ' s s uccessor . Lamar had 

severa l grandiose but unsuccessful s chemes f or p ac ifying 

the fr on t i er and chast ising Mexi co . Among these was a plan 

to sec~re a fiv e million dollar loan from European sources 

to fin a nce a war agains t Mexico . The f a i l ure of this pla n 

caus ed their h opes to f a ll again . 

A cr i sis developed on the southwest fr ontie r due to 

t he inability of t he Texas governmen t to provide pro t ection 
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f or i ts cit i zens there . Thi s crisis was to rema in unres olv ­

ed un t i l 1842 . Wi t h the be ginning of t he year 1842 t he 

southwestern fr ontier was in a state of chaos as bo t h Texa s 

and Mexi co we r e too weak to exert a u t hority t h e r e . Although 

i t was six y ears since Te x a s had defeated Santa Ann a ' s army 

at San Jacin o , Mexi o still r e f used to rec ogni ze Texas 

independence and con s i dered the i nfant Republi c a department 

of Mexico . The prima ry reason f or Mexico ' s refusal to 

r ecognize Texas independen ce was pol i tical . No poli t i cal 

leader in Mexi co could afford to admi t the loss of Texas 

without plac ing his care e r in jeopa rdy . Privately many 

Mexi can leade r s ackn owledged t he f act t h a t Texa s mos t pro ­

bably c ould not be rec overed . 

The relat i ons between Texa s a nd Mexi co were s tale ­

mated bo t h politically a nd mil i tarily . The Mexican govern ­

men t could no t compel Texas to r eturn to t he Mexican common ­

we a lth nor could i t afford to off i c i a lly recognize Texas 

independence . Texas , on the oth er hand , could n ot f orce 

Mexico to re cognize its independence n or prevent Mexican 

encroachments upon its terri tori a l s overe i gnty . The people 

who suffe red the most fr om this situation were the settlers 

along t h e Texas - Mexican border . 

Since its independence the Republi c of Texas had 

b een h a rd pressed to prov i de any regu l a r security f o r ce to 

pro t ect t h e southwestern b o r der of the country . The best it 

could do wa s to or gan i z e inadequ a e ly a rmed militia uni ts , 



rangers and minu emen . These groups were backed up by a 

few straggly companies of infan t ry and cavalry composed of 

1 
volunteers enlis ed for three years . These forces proved 

3 

largely ineffe t ive in protect in g t he region from encroach­

ments by Indians , b and its , brigands and marauding un i ts of 

the Mexic a n army . In addition to these dangers were frequen t 

invasions by the remnants of revolutionary groups which fled 

Mexico af er the periodic upheavals against the established 

governme nt in that country . 

The sparsely populated area stretching from the 

Colorado River south and west to the Rio Grande lay open 

and v i rtually undefended , a situa i on that invited attack 

fr om anyone who felt the strength and the urge to do so . 

Thi s area was claimed by Texas which had designated t he Rio 

Grande as i ts legal boundary in 1836 . Mexico cla i med the 

en tire a re a in luding Texas whose wes ern border as a 

Mexican State had extended only as f ar as the Nueces River . 

The stronges force in the disputed area was the Mexi can 

Army which maintained at least nominal control of the area 

south of he Nueces . I t was aided in its effort by groups 

of armed vaqueros cal l ed "defensores . " These were recruited 

by Mexico from both sides of t he Ri o Grande . Administ r atively 

the area was included in the exi can states of Coahuila 

and Tamaulipas . 

1 
J oseph M. Nance , Attack and Counterattack , 3-6 . 
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Th e Federalist Wa rs of 1837- 1839 were he result of 

a n attemp t by opponen s of President Sa n ta Anna to establish 

a n independen t republi c composed of the nor t hern Mex i can 

sta es . This republi which wa s styled the ''Republ i c of 

t h e Rio Gra nd e " wa s to include t he s t ates of Coahuila , 

Tamaulip a s , Chihuahua , Sonora , uevo Leon , Durango , Zacatecas , 

the n orthern territor i es of Arizona and Nuevo Mexico , Alt a 
2 

California and Baja California . Texas was a ls o invi ted by 

t he Federa list l eaders to j o in but i t refus ed . The leaders 

of the Republic of t h e Rio Grande were Juan Cardenas , 

Governor of Tamaul ipas , and Colonel Antonio Canales . 

There were 281 Texan s in the army of t he Republi c 

of t h e Ri o Grande during the period of t he Federal ist Wars 

of 1837 - 1839 . 3 
These men were commanded by Colonels Reuben 

Ross a nd S . W. J ordan . They were n ot spons ored by the 

Republic of Texas in the war but acted on their own voli t ion . 

When the Republic o f the Rio Grande proved to be a failure , 

the exi can government held the Rep ub lic of Texas responsible 

for the part i c ipat ion of the Texans in the war . Some of the 

same men were to be members of the Somervell and Mier 

expedi i on s which fur t her gave the Mexican g overnment cause 

for complain t . 

2 
Hubert H. Bancrof t , His ory of Texas and North 

Mexi can Sates, II , 276 . 
3Joseph M. Nance , Aft e r San Jacin o , 225 . 



However , the Republic of Texas disavowed any re ­

sponsibility for the Texans who had served in t he army of 

the Federalists . It declared that any of i ts citizens 

5 

par i cipating in actions against the government of Mexico 

were private i t i zens acting in that capacity and not as 

agents of the Republic of Texas . The Texan government cited 

as proof the f act that the Texans fighting in the federalist 

cause had taken an oath of loyalty to the Republic of the 

Rio Grande which would have been impossible had they been 

agen s of t he government of Texas . In spite of these de ­

nials , h owever , Santa Anna maintained that the Republ i c of 

Texas had secretly supported the revolution against his 

governmen 

Another cause of friction in the southwest resulted 

f rom smuggl ing operations carried on during the Federal i st 

i nsurrection and afterward by residents of the area , Texans 
4 

as well as Mexicans . Smuggling had proved to be ext r emely 

profitab le because the French navy had blockaded the Mexican 

Gulf Coast during the Federalist War . To compound the 

worsening situation there was a complete breakdown of l aw 

and order in the area between the Nueces and t h e Rio Gr ande 

which became a haven for outlaws of all sorts . Texas out ­

laws raided Mexi can ranches i n the area as f ar south as 

the Sal Colorado , f orcing many Mexi can ranchers to abandon 

4 
J oseph M. Nance , After San Jacinto , 547 . 
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their ranches in the period 1840 - 1841 . From the South 

5 
Mexican b and i s penetrated as far north as the Nueces . It 

would take the Texas author i ies until 1846 to restore law 

and o r der in what h ad b ecome known as the Nueces S rip . 

A further deterioration of the situation on the 

Texas - Mexico border was brought on by the d i sastrous outcome 

of the Santa Fe Expedit i on of 1841 . This exped i tion had 

b een commiss i oned by Govern or Lamar to reinforce the shadowy 

claim of t h e Republ i c of Texas to the lands east of he Rio 

Grande . The object ives of the expedi i on had been to open 

trade wi th Santa Fe and give i t s citizens the oppo r t unity 
6 

to receive the protection of the Republic o f Texas . The 

exped i i on was also to explore the territory between the 

Texas settlements and San ta Fe . The Santa Fe Expedition 

was cons i dered by the Texans to be n on - mili ary , but the 

Me x i cans though otherwise . When the Texan expedition 

reached Santa Fe the Mexican army was re ady and waiting 

for them . The Texans were so weakened by t he ma r ch across 

the plains a nd t h e ir exhaust ing experiences that they were 

captured wi thout resis tance by the Mexi can army .
7 

This army 

under Colonel Salazar took them prisoner a nd after only a 

5Nance , Attack a n d Counterattack , 280 - 281 . 

6 
Nance , After San J acinto , 505 . 

?Ibid . 
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short delay marched them to Mexico City . During the forced 

march o Mexico City the Mexicans infl i cted many c r uel ies 
8 

upon the Texans . The survivors were finally r eleased in 

of 1842 .9 
The gesture of good will in liberating the 

pris on ers failed to i mpress the frontiersmen in Texas, for 

t h ey continued to call for action agai nst Mexico . 

Along he l ower r eaches of the Rio Grande the 

Mexicans continued to send occasional patrols into Texas 

terri tory and threaten large scale invas i ons . These were 

as much f o r t he purpose of impressing the Mexi can p eop le as 

intimidat ing he Texans . The Mexican gove rnmen t in 1842 

was just emerging fr om the Federal is t upheaval and believed 

it necessary to prove hat the Federalist s t r uggle had lef t 

her uns cathed . To d ivert the atten t i on of people in t he 

nor t h away from their domes i c troubles t he Mexican govern­

men t decla red that i t expected to be attacked by a Texan 

army and attempted to arouse a pat riot i c resp ons e from 

their own c itizens . 

The commander of he Mexican Army of t he North , 

Genera l Mariano Aris ta , issued a call to arms to the pe ople 

of n o r h ern Mexico in t he latter part of 1841 . He commission ­

ed Captain Jose M. Gonzales to obtain 200 men each fr om t he 

Third Cavalry Regimen , t he Presidial Company of Camargo 

8 
George W. Kendall , The Texan Santa Fe Expedi i on , 

524- 582 . 
9Ibid ., 582 . 
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and the auxiliary forces at La Bahia in preparation f or an 

attack upon Texas . The invasion was scheduled to be g in in 

Janua ry of 1842 , with its primary objectives being t he 

capture of Corpus Christ i, Refugio and Goliad . These pla ns 

wer e l ater altered so that the army under Gonzalez could 

carry out i t s operat i ons in conjunct ion with an a rmy under 

Genera l Ra f ael Vasquez wh o would attack in the No r th while 

Gonz a lez attack ed i n the South . As a result Gonzal ez was 

forc ed to postpone his entry into Texas until February 1 , 

1842 .
10 

His point o f dep arture would be Camargo while 

Vas quez would sta rt from Lampas a s a nd seize San Antonio . 

Prior to this inva sion General Arista issued an 

address to the inhab i tants o f the Department of Texas from 

his headqua r te rs at Monterrey . In his address he cited the 

futi lity of the efforts of the Texans to maintain the ir 

independence . He promised amnes y and protec t i on f or all 

who would refrain fr om taking up arms against the Mexican 

troops . He stated that while Mexico held out the olive 

branc h of peace to Texans wi th one hand she held the sword 

of justice in the other ready to smite all who might resis t 

11 
her . 

As part of t h e general preparations f or the coming 

invasion a ll the Mexic an garrisons along the Rio Grande were 

10 
Mariano Arista , El Gener a l Mariano Arista e 

Mini stro de GuerrQ , ArchivoHis tori co Milita · de Mexico 
in Freder i c k C . Chabot , Corpus Christi and Lipantitla n , 

11 
Nance , Attac k a nd Counterattack, 8 . 

c i ted 
16 . 
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s rengthened . However , the reports of these preparations 

re ach ing San Antonio were , like those of previous invasions , 

grossly exaggerated . Texas in tell i gence reported that 

Gene ral Arista was collecting 15-20 days provisions in t he 

towns along the south bank of the Rio Grande . Reports from 

Mexico City reaching Texas at this time said that a for ce 

of 400 - 500 Mexican soldiers had left Tamaulipas for Texas 

and Bexar . An a count in t he Vera Cruz Censor said the 

for ce had left Tampico in February . It was also repor ted 

that 2100 auxiliaries , of whom 800 were infantry and 1300 

were cavalry , were being organized in Nuevo Leon . A large 

b ody of militia was supposed to be assembl i ng at Mier . 

The threat of an invasion from Mex i co had other 

serious impli cations for Texas besides the immediate concern 

for the security of her borders . The failure to furnish 

adequate protection for settlers on the frontier tended to 

dis courage immigration from the United States and elsewhere . 

This reluctance of colonists to come to Texas was 

i ncreased by the news of the fate of the Santa Fe expedition . 

I t was believed in European diplomatic circles that Texa s 

had demonstrated her inability to hold the territory she 

claimed as her own by the failure to establ ish her authority 

at Santa Fe . I t would be a poor investment for European 

immigration soc i et ie s and American financiers to support a 

government tha appeared powerless and bankrupt . Texas' 

cred i t was no good and it had no sJanding army with which 
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to protect itself . Furthermore Texas ' terr i tory was subject 

12 
to depredat ions by Indians as well as the Mexican Army . 

In Great Br i tain in part i cular there were people 

who were antagonistic to the interests of Texas . These were 

the exican b ondh o lders and speculators in t he British 

co l onies who waged an economic campa i gn against Texas f o r 

f i n anc i al rea sons . There were also f ore i gn mer chants in 

England engaged in t he Mexican trade who joined the other 

g r oups i n oppos ing a i d to Texas . On the continent , however , 

coloni zation promoters were relat ively unaffected by the 

unfor tunate events i n Texas and cont i nued energet i cally to 

t . . t . t T 13 
promo e i mmigra i on o exas . 

The negat ive effect upon the colon i zat i on schemes 

was t h e major reason f o r the concern of t he Texas govern ­

me n t over the occupat i on o f San Ant onio de Bexar by the 500 -

man a rmy of General Vasquez i n March of 1842 . The c i t y had 

be en abandoned b y a Texan defense for ce under Captain J ohn 

C . Ha ys n umb ering 100 men prior to Vasquez ' e n try . Vasquez 

held San Antonio f o r two days while h e secured needed 

supplies . At the end of two days h e turned his men s outh­

westward and r eturned to Mex i co . Captain Ha y s and his men 

t r ailed Vasquez as f a r as t h e Nueces and t hen re t ired with-
14 

out engaging Va squez ' army in comb at . 

12 
Na n ce , After San Jacinto , 12 . 

13 
Ib i d . , 13 . 

14 
Nan ce , Attack a n d Coun te r attack , 200 . 
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Further to the South another Mexican force of 

approximately 207 men under Colonel Valera invaded Texas 

and penetrated as far north as Villa de Goliad . This phase 

of the Mexican invasion served li le purpose except to 

fur ther arouse an already alarmed group of settlers in t he 

re gion of the Nueces . They saw in t his raid the i ntention 

of Mexico to establish a permanent occupation of the area . 

The size of the Mexican army was put at 700 by several sour ces ; 
15 

h owever , one estimate went as high as 20 , 000 . 

The most significant effect .of the Mexican invas ion 

of March 1842 was to bring tremendous pressure to bear upon 

President Sam Houston who now was serv i ng h i s second term 

as President for some kind of ret a liatory act i on agains t 

Mextco . Hous ton ,vas asked to organize a punitive exp edition 

to mar c h to the Rio Grande and if necessary to permit i t to 

go b eyond he river to punish Mexico for the recent invasion . 

Houston reluctantly sent out a call to arms on March 10 . He 

later expla ined the reasons for his reluctance in a letter 

to t h e ed i tor of the Galveston Advertiser . Houston f elt 

that to prepare suffi c iently for an exped i t i on such as t he 
16 

pe opl e were demanding would take months , if n ot years . 

He conceded , h owever , that if suffic i ently prepared such a n 

15 
Ibid ., 42 . 

16Hous ton to the Editor of the Galveston Advertiser , 
Hous ton , Texas , March 17 , 1842 . Writings of Sa m Houston , 
II , 509 . 
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expedition might well penetrate to t he gates of Mexico City 

due to the inferior trainin g and equipment of he Mexican 

army . Foreign military aid , Houston went on , was not 

fe asib le because of the difficulty of coordinating the 

command of the various foreign contingents . Finally , Houston 

declared that in his op inion it would be i mpossible for the 

Republi c to raise the funds necessary for financing an 

expedition of this type with its poor credit rating among 

t h e world ' s economic powers . 

As if in answer to Houston ' s . arguments against a 

Mexican expedition the Houston Telegraph and Texas Register 

carried an editorial which declared that the conquest of 

Mexico should not be the objective of the proposed expedition . 

The editor wrote that the Texan army should penetrate Mexi co 

as far as the Sierra Madre and carve out a new b oundary . 

Texas should not strike at Mexico ' s heartland but annoy her 

and if possible detach some of her territory as punishment 

for molest i ng Texas . Texas might then force Mexico to 

accept a peace settlement on Texas ' terms . After this had 

taken place , Texas could then develop Matamoros as a supply 

dep ot for fur t her actions agains t Mexico if this should prove 

n ecessary . Despite the warnings of Sam Houston that the 

exp ense of an expedition against Mexico was more t h an the 

Republi c ' s treasury could stand , the fr ontie rsmen still 

demanded such an expedition to s at i sfy their desire f or 

r evenge . The attempt to satisfy their demand by token action 

f a i led . Houston then proclaimed a blockade of the Mexican 
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Gulf Coas t por ts and announced pla ns to bring settlers from 

France , Be lgium a nd Great Britain into the region along the 

l ower reaches of t he Rio Grande . Although he s i gned con ­

t r acts for hes e set lemen t s in February a nd June of 1842 , 

t he coloni za i on effort never materialized . The threat of 

co l onization of the lower Rio Grande Valley fa i led to 

s atisfy the Texans and a roused further the app rehens i ons 

of Mexi co . 

The Mexican co~.manders of the Army o f the Nor t h 

issued r i nging appeals to the i r citizen s to de f end the ir 

fr ont i e r i n these troubled times . Tr oops we r e stat i oned at 

s t r ategi c locations along the Rio Grande wi t h 2500 i n Mata ­

mo r os alone . The Mexi can army had rece i ved r eports that an 

a rmy of 400 Texans had assembled at Goliad and t hat Texas 

patro l s were already penetrating b eyond the Nueces . Al t h ough 

t h e s e r e ports proved to b e f a l se , t h e Mexicans were n ow on 

the ale r t . Th e t h reat was cons i dered s o ser i ous t hat on 

J une 10 Pre sident Santa Ann a f e l t compe lled to issue a 

decla r at i on of h i s intention to prosecute t he war aga ins t 

17 
Texas un t il vi ctory was achi e ved . 

During thi s period one mi nor s kirmish took place 

b etween the a r mi es o f Texas a n d Mexi co at Lipa n i tlan on 

t h e ueces Ri ver . A Mexi can f o r c e under Co l on e l Can a l e s 

17Nance , Attack and Counte r attack , 43 . 
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engaged a Texan army under General Davis . After the two 

armies exchanged fire for a brief time , t he Texans withdrew . 

This insignificant little skirmish was magnified out of 

propor t i on in the light of other events . However , the 

sixt h congress of the Republic of Texas adjourned without 

appropriating funds for increased security for c es on the 

southwest rontier which gave the people in the s outhwest 

the feeling that the i r danger had been i gnored . If t heir 

government could not or would not help t hem , they would help 

h emselves . 



CHAPTER II 

EVENTS 01 THE SOUTHWESTER FRONTIER, 1842 

In the mid - swnmer of 1842 Texas ' southwest frontier 

lay virtually unde fe nded . The only defense force on the 

fron t i er was the 150 r a ngers commanded by Major John c . 
1 

Hays . These r a ngers were char ged with the defense of the 

frontier , suppression of bandits , observation of Mexican 

activities on the Rio Grande and he prevention of the 

incursions of Indians and others who might harass the area . 

The Indi an attacks had b ecome so serious that Presirtent 

Houston had transferred the capitol from Austin o Houston . 

Major Hays ' r angers were unequal to their task of protecting 

the frontier . 

As a result of these desperate conditions the south­

western frontier region was rapidly becoming depopulated . 

Contemporary reports from Austin and San Antonio show how 

serious conditions had become . Austin had only a small 

starving population remaining and business had almost 

stopped . San Antonio was not much be ter off with its 

trade virtua lly at a standst ill . It was described by 

1 
J ohn Coffee (Jack ) Hays was a surveyor by pro -

fession who came to Texas in 1837 . He was employed by the 
Republic of Texas to make surveys on the frontier . Appoint ­
ed Captain of the Texas rangers , he bec ame a noted Indian 
fi ghter . I n 1849 he moved to California where he died in 
18e3 . Hays County is n amed in his honor . Handbook of Texas , 
I , 789 . -
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visi ors at the time as a "town of gloomy desolation . " Only 

ten or fif teen Americans remained in he town out of t h e 

ori g inal p opulat i on of two hundred or more white settlers . 

A group of people residing along the Guadalupe and 

San Antonio Rivers held a meeting at Vic tor i a to dis c uss 

the local s ituation a nd exc h ange ideas as to what could be 

done about i t . Th ese people we re seriously conce rned about 

the f utur e as many of t h e ir friends and neighbors had already 

moved east of the Colorado River . They were determined to 

find some means o f protect ing themselves against be i ng driven 

back beyond vhe Guad a lupe a nd Sa n Antonio Rivers . Tl:l.ere was 

at the time of this Victoria meeting a group of mil i t i a 

encamped on the Guada lupe River numbering between twen ty 
2 

and thirty men commanded by Colonel Ewen Cameron . Co l onel 

Camer on a nd his detachment of militia were all that stood 

b etwe e n t he Mexican a r my and the l i ves and property of he 

fron t i e r settlers of southwest Texas . 

The Vi ctoria meeting adopted a declaration s tating 

i t s objectives and resolutions . The reason for the meeting 

accor d i ng to the declarat i on was t he f ailure of the Rep ublic 

o f Texas to preve n t the Mexican raid on San Antonio . The 

s ettlers felt that they had only three alternatives : tame 

submi ssion 11 to Mexican terms , the abandonment of thei r 

2 
Ewe n Cameron c ame to Texas i n 1836 as part o f a 

g r oup o f Kentucky voluntee rs . He was in the cattle business 
until 1842 when he joined a company of Washington Co!_mty 
v olun teers as a captain . Ha ndbook of Texa s , I , 275 . 
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h omes and retirement to residences in middle or eastern 

Texas , or mounting the utmost possible resistance to the 
3 

invas i on of the Mexican army . The members o f the Victoria 

mee ting further declared that the sett lers had g iven up any 

hope of receiving a id from heir gov ernment . Finally they 

resol ved that the ir exposed position be ma de kn own to the ir 

fell ow citizens and that a committee be app ointed to secure 

aid and con cert of act i on with fellow citizens in other 

counties . They a pp o inted a commi ttee to address the 

President as to t h e reasons for t he convention taking the 

actions that it d id a n d to solic i t aid fr om other parts of 

the Republic . They extended the gratitude of the Vic tori a 

ci t iz ens to those wh o might come to their a i d and thanked 

Captain Cameron and his men for t heir efforts on beha lf of 

t h e conven t i on . The convention also asked the Color ado 
4 

Gazette to publish he proceedings of the meeting . 

The call to arms is sued by the Victoria meet i ng 

br ou ght a l a r ge resp ons e fr om t he county of Victoria , but 

very few elsewhere . Major Cameron ' s militia unit on the 

Guadalupe cons i sted of forty to fifty men from Victoria 

County and the sou hwest fron t i er , but this wa s hard ly an 

aaequate force with which to oppose an invading Mexic an 

army . 

3 
Joseph M. Nance , At tack and Counte r attack , 283 . 

4 
Ibid ., 283 - 284 . 
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Ewen Carr,eron had , previous to taking command of the 

Victoria county militia unit , lived i n the states of northern 

Mexico adjoining the Rio Grande . It i s believed that while 

r esiding in northern Mexico Cameron became obsessed with the 

idea of forming a new nation between the Rio Nueces a n d Rio 

Panuco . This would include the area donated by t he Kin g of 

Spain to Don J ose ' Escandon in 1746 , which stretched from 

the Panuco River just south of present - day Tampico nor t hward 

to the San Antonio River . Cameron reasoned that since Texas 

had aken possess ion of this a rea down to the Nueces that 

t h e southern part should also be occ upi ed by the Republic . 

If no t annexed by Texas , Cameron fel t the a rea should become 

an independent republi c in i s own right . This was probably 

his motive f o r tak ing command of t h e Victoria County mili t ia 

and l ater joining t h e exped i t i on to t h e southwest . 

The r eason f or t he Victor i a County c itizens accept ing 

his l eadership was of a more pract i cal nature t h a n carving 

out a new nat i on below the Rio Grande . As a former resident 

of n orthern Mexico Cameron h ad valuable knowledge o f the 

woods and ountain p a sses in the region south of the Nueces . 

This knowledge made Ewen Came ron the n atura l choice to 

command t he Vi ctoria County mili i a and to ma ke an expedition 

i n to t h e t rans - Nueces as well . 

The call for act ion from the settlers in the south­

wes t f a iled to c h ange President Houston ' s stand . He still 

felt that t he Republi c o f Texas was unable f i nanc i ally to 
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suppo r t he kind of sustained camp a i gn tha t would be n e cess a ry 

to bring tr anquili t y to the s ou t hwestern fron t ier . He re ­

jecte d t h e Vi ctori a de c lara tion by s a ying that , "The appro ­

priation ma d e by t he firs t session of the last congress 

would n o t suf f i ce to susta in a single comp a ny upon the 

b order . 11 5 He further s a id , 'Our difficulties have not been 

increased , but are only the more manifest because the evils 

produced by the last are fully disclosed in the poverty of 

our presen t condition . 116 

Houston ' s defense of his stand failed to satisfy his 

criti c s and further aroused those who had already begun 

calling for a punitive expedition against Mexico . The most 

vociferous in their support of such an exped i t i on to Mexico 

were the adventurers who had recently arrived in the Republic 

fr om the United States . For these men such an expedition 

offered an opportunity for financial and personal gain . The 

idea might have been f orgo ten if they had been i ts only 

proponen s , but the fact was that the adventurers were not 

alone . Not only the settlers in the southwestern region 

bu many people i n the inter i o r as well fel t that act ion 

against Mexico could be delayed no longer without jeopardiz ­

ing the life of the Republic . Houston , himself , realized 

5sam Houston to Richard Roman , City of Houston , 
August 10 , 1842 , Wr i tings of Sam Houston , III , 145 . 

6 
Ibid . 
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that some action would now be necessary i f only for pol i tical 

show . The problem , then , was not whether action should be 

taken , but in what form it should be . 

Pres i dent Houston was convinced that whatever action 

was taken must be limited in scope . This would be necessary 

b ecause the congress of the Republ i c had b een so miserly in 

providing funds for financing any plan to inc re ase the 

security of the Republic ' s fron t i e rs . Houston was f aced 

with the dilemma of trying to outfit an expedition against 

Mexi co wi t hout money o p ay for it . He could not negotiate 

with Mexico because Mexi co s t ill refused to re cogni ze the 

independence of Texas , nor would Mexico accept the offices 

of a third par t y to settle what the Mexican government con ­

s i der ed to be pur e ly an inte rna l matter . Texas must do 

s omething , but i t s coffers were empty . 

Houston propose d to r a ise an a rmy to mar ch to the 

Rio Grande and if necess a ry o c ross into Mexico . The 

purpose of this campaign was o punish Mexico for her in ­

v asions in o Texa s . Houston ' s init i al plan cal led for 

r a i sing nineteen companies of sixty- six men each plus one 

hundred Lipan Apach e and Tonkawa Indi a ns totalling 1, 354 

men . They would be equipped at their own expense . The 

only supplies to be furnished by t he Republic of Texas 

woul d be t he army ' s ammunition . The l a st and most importa nt 

p oi nt of a ll was t hat the Gove r nment o f Texa s would spons or 

the campaign in to t he v a lley of t h e Rio Grande . Any spoils 
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captured by it would be divided among the men and none of 

i t claimed by the Republic of Texas . In such a manner was 

the Army of the Southwest first conceived . 
7 

Houston was undoubtedly influenced in h1s planning 

by a proclamation of the Government of the United States . 

This announcement declared tlat the United States would 

expect the members of any Texas force that might fall into 

the hands of Iexico to be accorded all mercy and kindness 

due prisoners of war . This demand only appl ied if t he 

s oldiers ~ere regular figh ing men of the Republic of Texas 

serving under its flag . A force of filibusters fighting 

without the sanction of the Republic of Texas would not be 

subjec o the rules appl i cable to legitimate prisoners of 

war . 

With this encouragement Houston announced that the 

army , once it reached the Rio Grande , would make such re ­

prisals against_ exico , 11 as civilized and honorable warfare 

will justify in our present relations with our common enemy . 118 

At the same time that Houston h ad authorized formation of 

the Ar~y cf the Southwest , he announced the formation of 

another force under Charles A . Warfield to move against the 

7 
Houston to William Chicty , New Orleans , Houston , 

August 15 , 1842 , Wri ings of Sam Houston , IV , 134- 135 . 

8
concerning he campaign against Mexico City , July 

26 , 1842 . Journals of the House of Representatives , Eighth 
Congress . 375 . 
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northwestern frontier . 9 This army was to move award New 

Mexico and draw the attent ion of t he Mexican army away from 

the campa i gn in the south . The strategy was not only to 

attack one of ~exico ' s weakest points but also o launc h a 

repr isal for the Mexican capture and abuse of the members 

of the Santa Fe expedition . 

Warfield was directed to raid New Mexico , levy 

contributions from exican towns in the area and confiscate 

the property of the Mexican people . In the case of Warfield ' s 

men , t he spoils were to be split evenly be tween the Republic 

and members of the army . Once Warfield had devastated t he 

smaller towns his instructions were to captur e Santa Fe and 

any other large owns he might be able to occupy . At Santa 

Fe h e was to confisca te all ~exican property and then await 

fur ther ins ructions fr om the Texas government . The generally 

accepted plan of action once Santa Fe was in Texas hands was 

for Warfield to hold the town until the army of the South­

west had crossed the Rio Grande at whi ch t ime he and his 

a rmy would move down the river and join f orces wi th the Army 

o f the Sout hwest . This plan might have worked if it had 

b een carried out but it never was . Warfield ' s march was 

delayed upon t he insis tence of the American and Br i ish 

mini sters who feared it might upset negot iations for release 

9charles A. Warfield , Missourian , had b een a resident 
of New Mexico for some time . He had traveled widely in the 
Rocky mountain region . He was commissioned by George W. 
Hockley to raise a n expedition against Mexi co . Handbook of 
Texas , II, 863 . 
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Woll ' s campa i gn in Texas to coinc ide with the convening of 

the Mexican Congress to wr i te a new constitution . Santa 

Anna himself sta ed at this time : 

My principal attention is directed and 
fi xed on he terr itory of Texas , which has 
been usurped to t he end of making possible 
other u surpations . The struggle ( that has ) 
commenced is vital to the Republic , and if 
she conserve the honorable n ame that she 
enj oys in the c i vilized world , i t is 
n ecessary that employi ng h er energy and 
consuming her resources , she combat without 
in termi ssion and a cost of whatever 
s acr ifices until her arms and her rights 
triumph . The army is prepar ing f or t his 
and on this day , forever memorab le in which 
the nat i onal represen at i on ( legislature ) 
assembles , it pleases me to make known to 
y ou the opinions of my government , t h e 
desir es o f the army a n d the interest of 
the people . 1 2 

The firs t report o f the Mexic a n intent i on to i nvade 

Texas again re ached Sa n Ant oni o in July . As early as July 
13 

2 , the army under General Woll was reported wai ting on 

the Rio Grande f o r marching or de rs . The truth was t hat 

Woll d id n ot begin his march to San Antonio until August 24 . 

On this date he invaded Texas from the Mexican outpost at 

1 2 b ' d ~ - , 297- 298 . 
13Adrian Woll , a Frenc h s oldier of for t une , had 

arrived i n Ba l t imo r e , Mary l a n d in 1816 wi t h lette rs of 
in troduction to General Winfield Scott . Finding n o place in 
the U. S . Army he joined the Mexican f o r ces . He be came a 
fri end of Preside n t Santa Anna and a n officer in the Mexican 
Army . He negotiated the armistice in 1844 . Af er the 
Mexic an War he returned to France . He returned to Mexico 
in 1852 but left again in 1855 after the f a ll of Santa Anna . 
He re u r n ed to France where he d ied s omet ime after the 
Civil Wa r . Handb ook of Texas , II , 927- 928 . 
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Presidio del Rio Gr ande . On September 9, San Antonio 

citizens learned of his proximity to their city and on 

September 10 , efforts were made to organize some s ort of 

defense . The best hat could be done was to organize two 

groups of volun eers . On September 11 , General Woll ' s army 

surrounded San Antonio . 

Gener a l Woll ' s capture of San Antonio was a demon ­

s trat i on by Mexico that she could st i ll i mpose her author i ty 

on Texas . I t was also evidence ' hat Mexico st i ll considered 

Texas to be her own . To a certai n exten t it was a l so a 

r eprisal for the Santa Fe Exped i t i on and e v en the defeat at 

San J ac in to . This i s quite clear from the text of Woll ' s 

mess age to his troops af er crossing the Rio Grande : 

You will prove yourself worthy of the 
mi ss i on and of the army to which you belong 
... g r eat f at igue awai t s you in traversing the 
n ume r ous rivers and the vast soli tary p l a i ns , 
whi c h separate you from the enemy they protec t . 
By y our valor and your firmness you will over -
come al l these obstacles . You wi ll make your -
self great as the desert i s vast . In comb at 
y ou will recol l ect the i njuries commi tted by 
ing r at i tude to Mexi can hosp i tality . Af ter 
t ri umph you wi ll remember y ou a r e Mexicans 
... b e gen erous ... do not d i strust f ortune 
... she wi l l be fa i thful to just i ce -
victo r y wil l crown your hero i c e f for t s and a 
g e nerous country wil l reward y our wo r thi ness

4 So l d i ers , let us march then upon the enemy . 1 

Gen e r al Woll cut o f f a l l communicat i ons between the 

Ri o Gr ande and Bexar . By taki ng a c i rcui tous r oute through 

the wi lderness and the foot of t h e mountain s he was ab le 

14 
Nan ce , Attac k and Countera tack , 3 1 2 . 
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to advance secret ly to within t hree leagues of San Antonio 

before i ts citi z ens e ver suspected that such a Mexican 

expediti on had started . Woll entered Sa n Antonio after 

ligh t resistance fr om the citizenry , who seeing that this 

was a for ce of regular Mexican a rmy units , elected to 

surrender . Woll captured sixty- seven prisoners as a result 

of the occupation of San Antonio .
15 

Among the prisoners 

were members of the district court whi ch was in sess i on i n 

San Antonio . Woll used these prisoners to spread rumors 

throughout the frontier by requiririg them to write letters 

fr om ime to time . They were forced to wr i te that they 

were receiving satisfactory treatment and that General Wol l' s 

a r my was not the advance party of a l arger Mexican Army , 

but a band of robbers numbering a f ew hundred men . Mean ­

wh ile General Woll prepared to defend the city of San 

Antonio against an expected Texan counterattack . 

Th e only Texan fo r ce i n the v i cin i t y was Major John 

Ha y s ' rangers wh o kep t up a constant sur veillance of the 

activ i ties of the Mexi can army i n San Antoni o . Upon hi s 

r epor , Texans were answer i ng the cal l to come and re scue 
16 

San Antonio . A force of 200 Texans under Captai n Caldwell 

15 
I bid . , 323 . 

16 
Mathew Caldwell came to Texas from Missouri in 

1831 . He was a signer of the Texas Declaration of I ndep en ­
dence . Caldwel l b ecame a Captain of a Company i n the 1st 
Regiment of Infantry after the r evolutionary war . He was 
wounded i n the Counc i l House fight . He was a San a Fe 
pri soner . He died i n Gonzales i n 1842 . Handbook of Texas , 
I , 268 . 
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was encamped upon Sa lado Creek about five miles from the 

city . Caldwell ' s strategy was t o draw Woll outside the 

c i ty by using Capta in Hays ' rangers as a reconnoitering 

for ce . If unable to draw Woll out of San Antonio , Caldwell 

would wa it f o r reinforcement s . 

As part of his preparations f or defend ing San 

Ant onio General Woll sent the sixty- seven prisoners on to 

Mexi co on September 13 , 1842 . Of all the actions of General 

Woll , his act was to cause the greatest repercussions 

later . Before the i r departure the B~xar prisone rs (as they 

were to b ecome known) were f orced to draft a fina l letter 

to their coun rymen . This letter was a n appeal to t he Texas 

army , should t h ey reoccupy San Antonio , (as Woll knew they 

would) to make no reprisals upon t he Mexican populace of 

San Antoni o . The l etter read as f ollows : 

To Americ an Officers and Cit i zens : The 
under s i gned , Amer i can prisoners in the hands of 
the Mexican Army at t his place , feel it to be 
a duty to recommend to a ll P..mericans , who may 
come here after our departure , to treat the 
Mexi can p opu l ation residing in t his place with 
lenience and kindness . Up to t he time of t he 
unfortunate occurence by which we were made 
prisoners nothing t r anspired to prejudice them 
in our estimation , a nd since our captivity 
they h a ve be en untiring in their kindness 
supplying us in t he most libera l manner with 
every t hing which could induce in the leas t 
degree to our comfort . 

We . .. h ope , therefore , should this 
place again f all into t he ha n ds of the Ameri cans 
that f o r our s a~e the Mexican population here will 
not b e in ~ny way dist~7bed or injured e ither in 
person or in prope r t y . 

17Nanc e , Attac k a nd Counterattack , 327 . 
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The ul t imate fate of the Bexar prisoners was re ­

corded f or pos erity by the man who wa s U~jted States 

Minister to Mexico at the time , Gener a l ~addy Tho~ps~n . 

According to his account five men escaped , one was released 

by Santa Anna, t hree were released through the intercession 

of Genera l Thomps on himself , one was released through the 

intercessi on of General Andrew Jackson , two were killed at 

Hac ienda Sa lado , eight died in prison in Mexico , three 

escaped from Mexico and thirty- eight were released from 

Pero ve . Six prisoners were presumed · to have died in Mexico 
18 

but positive proo f coul d not be obtained . 

At about the time tha Woll dispatched the Bexa.r 

prisoners to exico h e sent Colonel Seguin and Captain 

Herrera with the presidial and defensor forces of Bexar to 

reconno i er the road lead ing from San Antonio down the 

Guadalupe river to Gonzales . Seguin and Herrera repor ted 

~hat they encountered no hostile f orces west of the Guad a lupe . 

The repor t of Seguin and Herrera was probably the primary 

r eason tha General Woll decided to accept the challenge by 

Captain Caldwell . Woll also knew that another Mexican army 

h ad left Matamoros on August 26 . This force commanded by 

Gonzales was under orders to march to Victoria and f r om there 

to whichever point ne cessary o link up with Woll . Gonzales ' 

18 
Th omas Jefferson Green , Journal of the Texian 

Expedi t ion Against Mier , 448 . - --
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army never reached Victoria due to high water , but Wol l did 

n ot know it and in the final analysis it d i d not make any 

difference . 

By September 18 General Woll felt t hat he had 

accomplished his mission a nd began prepa r at i ons for t he 

r eturn march o Mexico . He decid ed to give Caldwell battle 

only to give his soldiers a c h ance to gain a litt le glory . 

This woul d be t h e i r l ast chance , as his o r d ers called for 

his mission to be terminated in thir t y days which me ant t hat 

with an early depar ure from San Anton i o his soldiers would 

h a ve a little extra t i me . A fi gh t with t he Texan army 

would occupy his troops ; and should they win , suc h a victory 

ld h h . t . 19 wou en ance slS pres 1ge . 

On the morning of the eighteenth Cap ta in Hays and 

his r a ngers made their move and in so doing b a ited Captain 

Caldwell's t r ap . Woll accepted the challenge , marched his 

army out of San Antonio preceded by his cavalry and pro ­

ceeded to t ry to storm t he Texans ' position . The Texans re ­

pulsed every attack . Every ime the Mexican infantry came 

within r a nge of t he sha rpshoot ing Texans their ranks were 

so thinned t hat they were f o r ced to give way . The shells 

of the Mexican artillery fell h armlessly into the tre es 

a b ove t he Texa n position . It was in the middle of this 

confli c t hat one i ncident occurred that was to make an 

19Nance , Attack and Coun erattack , 329 . 



indelibl e imprint upon the minds of those Texans who wit ­

ness ed i t . 

30 

Int o the midst of the battle between General Woll ' s 

and Captain Caldwell 's forces came fifty - three men under 

Cap tain Dawson .
20 

The Mexicans saw that Dawson ' s men were 

to their rear and immediately t urne d on them . Dawson was 

too close to the Mexicans to make a safe retreat and had no 

alternative but to f ace the Mexican charge . They did not 

attempt to reach Caldwell ' s army as they were unaware how 

near it was to their own position . That the sad fate of 

Dawson ' s men was unne ces sary was borne out by a later 

observer who declared : 

He could have taken the main road and 
undoub ted ly have reached the Salado bottom in 
safety unobserved by the enemy . But that 
' dare me devil , don ' t care ' which is character ­
i stic of Texans led these brave spirits to the 
s laughter . Some of his men spoke of retreating . 
Dawson r aised h i s rifle and stated that he 
would shoot the first man who said shoot or 
s urrender . 21 

The Mexicans brought a cannon to bear on Dawson ' s 

men . Th e cannon fired point blank and cut the Texans down 

at a rap i d rate . Seeing that the situation was hopeless , 

Dawson decided to surrender . He raised the whi te flag , bu 

20
Nicholas Mosby Dawson came to Texas from Tennessee 

in 1834 . He participated in the Battle of San Jacinto in 
1836 . When General Woll captured San Antonio in 1842 , Dawson 
o r gani zed a company of volunteers and hurried to the front . 
Handbook of Texas , I , 472 . 

21 
Harvey Alexander Adams , Journal of the Expedi t ion 

to the Southwes , I , 2 - 3 . 



t h e Mexicans continued to fir e . Dawson ' s own men also 

f ailed o cease fire because they were unaware of heir 

commander ' s intentions . Thirty- six Texans were killed 

31 

a n d fif teen were captured before General Woll ordered hi s 

soldiers to cease fire . Unfor t unately Wall ' s order came a 

l i ttle l ate . However , Caldwell had no men killed and only 

ten wounded . Woll h ad on e hundred and four killed and one 

hundr ed an d fifty wounded . There was litt le victory or 

glory in s uch resul t s . Cons equen t ly , on September 20th, 

Genera l Woll wi thdrew from San An toni o and be gan mar ch i n g 

hi s troops back to Mexico . 

The capture of San Antonio by Wol l coupled with the 

Daws on Massacre r enewed the c ry i n Texas f or some s or t of 

reprisal f or such cruel act ion as that of Gene r al Woll . Sam 

Houst on , who had h oped t he c l amor might die away a f te r the 

def eat of his bill t o finan ce an exp edition to the south ­

wes t , saw his h opes dashed by General Wol l . He knew that 

s ome act i on would have to be taken . I r oni cally it was 

Mexi co and n ot his political enemies at h ome that had 

finally for ced Hous ton to act . 



CHAPTER III 

THE SOMERVELL EXPEDITION 

Upon receiving in t elligenc e that another Mexican 

invasion for c e had captured Sa n Ant onio ) many of t he 

f amil i es who had r ema i ned on the southwestern frontier 

fle d fr om their homes leav i ng behind t h em fields of un ­

ha rves ted corn a n d cotton . In s p it e of t he uncertainty 

and panic ) commi ttees of public safety and vigilance were 

organized a n d soon small groups of mounted men could be 

obs e rved making the ir way toward San Antonio to drive 
1 

out the hated pelados . 

Upon he a ring of the developments in San Antonio ) 

President Houston ordered the militia o f Matagorda ) 

Victoria ) Brazori a ) Fort Bend ) Austin ) Washington ) 

Colorado ) Fayette ) Gonzales and Bastrop counties to go to 

its resc ue . The idea was that t hese con t ingents coul d 

hara ss t h e Mex~can for ces around Sa n Antonio until an 

army of sufficient size to re capture the city could be 

o r ganized . According to the instruct i ons of Ho uston ) 

11 If the enemy should evacuate and f a ll back the troops 

are authori z ed and required to pursue them t o any p oint 

i n the Republi c ) or in Mexico a nd chastise t he marauders 

1Pelados was an expression for a ragged fellow , 
usually a peon . 
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f or their audacity . " Troops from the counties of Harris , 

Montgomery , Brazos , Robertson and ilam were held in 

re serve and all mili i amen in the republic were put on 

3 
alert . General Alexander Somervell of Matagorda was 

ordered to San Antonio to take overall command of t h e 

mili iamen a nd volun teers assembl ing there . 

Vic e - President Edward Burles on astensibly went t o 

San An ton i o on his own r esponsibili t y to take command of 

the Texan army . He was v e ry p opular with the fr on t iersmen 

of Texas and would have undoubtedly been a popular leade r . 

However , Sam Houston d i d no t want a p opular lead2r for 

his a rmy as much as he wanted one wh o could be counted 

on to f ol l ow orde rs . For t his reason he appointed Somer ­

vell commander of t h e soon - to - be formed Army of tre 

Southwest . General Burleson upon he a ring of his superi o r ' s 

action dutifully re t ired fr om the scene . Houst on ' s 

election of Somervell instead o f Burleson caused much ill 

2 Hous ton to Morgan C. Hamilton , City of Houston , 
September 20 , 1842, Writings of Sam Houston , III , 162 . 

3Alexan der Some rve ll , a native of Maryland , 
moved to Texas in 1832 . He engaged in the mercantile 
business in Sa n Felipe . He was elected ma jor in the 
firs regime n o f Texas v o lun t e e rs and fought at Sa n 
Jacinto . He was secreta ry of war in David G. Burne 's 
Cabinet and elected Brig . General in 1839 . Handbook 
of Texas , III , 636-637 , 
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feeling among the groups that were to make up the expedition 

4 
to the southwest . 

That the mood of Texas at this time was for war 

was evidenced by an editorial in the Houston Morning St a r 

on September 17 , 1842 : 

11 To arms ! " should be shouted throughout 
t h e Republic , and every man who can shoulder 
a ri fle should hasten o the a i d of our 
western c i t i zens . One bold and dec i sive blow 
at thi s juncture may complete l y de f eat the 
con temp l ated campaign of Santa Anna . ") 

Out r ageous optimism on the part or some p rop onents 

of h e expedition was reflected by an editorial i n the 

Houston Telegraph and Texas Register : 

An a r my of a thousand Texans could sweep 
t h e whole country from Chihuahua to the coast . 
Int elligent gentlemen who have v i s i ted Chi ­
huah ua , say that it could eas i ly be captured 
b y fiv e hundred or eight hundred Texans , and 
that a contribution of $200 , 000 s p ec i e could be 
l e vi e d and collected wi th ease . From Monterrey 
a n d Salt i l l o $100 , 000 could b e l evi ed also , and 
a p r op o r t i onate sum from other towns . I n t he 
v a l ley of the Rio Grande thousands of horses , 
cat tle , sheep and goats could be gathered and 
driven into t hese tlements . Thu s could we 
ext o r t fr om Mexi co an amount of proper y 
greater a nd more valuable than the who l e p ro ­
duct s of Texas have been for the l ast fi ve 
y e a r s . Ou r c i t i zen s could not en gage i n a 
mo re l ucrat i ve bus i ness than in carry i ng on an 

4 
Edwa r d Burleson came to Texas i n 1836 fr om 

No r th Carol i na . He estab l ished himse l f as a leader 
and statesman . He was a member of the conventions of 
1832 a n d 1833 and o f the conven ion of 1835 and f ought 
a San Jac in to . He was popular on the fron i er and was 
elec ed o positions of leadership , including Vice ­
Pre s i den of the Republic o f Texas in 1841 . Handbook of 
Texas , I , 219 . 

5Hou ston orn i ng Star , September 18 , 1852 . 



offensive war with Mexico . The army now 
i n the field will be augmented by bands of 
adventurous youth . . . and we trust i t 
will not turn back until it has exorted 
from the Mexican provinces an ample indemnity 
for al l the losses that Texa~ has sustained 
during the last seven years . 

35 

Whereas the clamor for an expedition against 

Mexico was i nspired by patriotism and greed in the east , 

on the fr ontier it was prompted by a sense of dire nec ­

essi t y . The people of the southwest felt a keen sense of 

insecurity . Women and children stood alone against the 

rigors of frontier life whi le their men marched off to 

fi ght . This c ircumstance interrupted agricultural pro ­

duction which i n its turn brought fi nancial diffi culty to 

t h e frontier people . In the space of eight months , the 

Texans of the fron t ier had been called to a r ms on five 

different occasions to repulse forces threatening them ; 

tw i ce it had been he Indians and three t imes it had been 

Mexi can invasions . All of this had left the southwestern 

fr ontier in a s tate of exhaust i on . 

Men converged upon San Antonio fr om a ll par t s of 

Texas and s ome came fr om t h e United States . A vivid de ­

s c rip tion o f these men who came to Bexar to offer their 

servi ces to he Republic was g i ven by William A . 11Big 

F oot " Wallace wh o was among those present : 

1842 . 

A motley mixed up c r ew we were you may be 
certain- broken - down politicians from he ' old 

6 
Houston Telegraph and Texas Register, October 5, 



states ' that somehow had gotten on the wrong 
side of the fence , and had been left out in 
the cold , renegades and refugees from j ustice , 
that had ' left their country for their country ' s 
good ' and adventurer s of all sorts , ready for 
anything or any enterprise that affor ded a 
reasonable prospect of excitement and plunder . 
Daredevils t hey were all , and afraid of nothing 
under the sun except a ( due - bill or a baliff) 
and if they had been managed with ski ll and 
judgemen t , would undoubtedly have accomplifhed 
all that was expected from the expedition . 

These were the men whom General Somervell h ad been 

commissioned to lead to Mexico . Somervell arr ived in San 

Anton i o on November 4, a month a f ter h e h ad re ce ived 

ins tructions as to what was expe cted of hims elf and his 

army from President Houston : 

Execut ive Department , Washington , 3rd , 
Oct ob er 1842 , TO : Brigadier General A . Somervell , 
Sir : Your off i c i a l communicat ions fr om San 
Felipe under date of 29th ultimo , reached me l ate 
last night . I seize the firs t moment to commun i ­
cate my o r ders . You will proceed to the most 
eli gible p oint on t he South Weste rn Frontier 
of Texas a n d concentrate with the f o rc e now under 
y our command , a ll troops who may submit to y our 
orders , and if you can advan ce wi th a prospect 
of success into the enemy ' s territory , you will 
do s o f orthwi th . You a re at libert y to take 
one or two pieces o f ordinance now at Gonzales . 
For my p a r t I h a v e lit le confidence in cannon 
on a ma r ch ; they will do on a retreat , where the 
forces a r e nearly equal , but t hey embarrass the 
adva n ce of a n a rmy ; a n d if pressed hard on a 
r etreat , t h e great aversi on that troops h ave to 
leave the art illery may induce delay , and 
embarass a ll the movements o f t he army . Our 
greatest reli ance will be up on light troops , and 
t h e celeri ty o f our movements . Hence the 
n ecessi t y of d is c ipline and subordination . You 

7John C . DuVal l , Adventur es of Big Fcot Wallace , 
159 - 160 . 



will therefore receive no troops in o serv i ce , 
but suc h as will be subordinate to y our orders 
a nd the rules of war . 
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You will receive no troops into your command 
b ut such as wil l march across the Rio Grande under 
y our orders if r equired to do so . If you c ross 
the Rio Gr ande you mus suffer n o surprise , but 
b e always on t he a l ert . Le t y our arms be inspec ted 
night and morning , a n d y our scouts always on the 
lookou t . 

You will be cont r o lled by the rules o f the 
most c ivili zed warf are , and y ou will find the 
advantage of exercising great humanity towar ds 
the common pe op l e , in b at tle let the enemy feel 
the fi erceness of j ust resentment and retributi on . 

The orders of t h e governmen t of t he 15th 
ult . h aving been d i sregarded by those wh o h ave 
gone to Bexar , i n never ha ving reported o r 
communi cated with the Depar t men t of War , t he 
Execut ive will not r ecogni ze the ir conduc t , and 
y ou alone will be held r esponsible to the 
government and sustained by its res ources , you 
will r eport as often as poss ible your operat i ons . 

You may rely upon the gal l ant Hays and his 
comp a nions and I desire t hat y ou should ob tain 
his services and cooperat i on , and assure him and 
all the brave and subordinate men in the field , 
that the h opes of t he country and the confidence 
of the Executive point to them as objects of 
cons tant solic itude . I nsub ordinat i on a n d a 
d i srega rd of command will bring ruin a n d disgrace 
upon our a r ms . God speed y ou . I have t h8 h ono r 
to be yo u r ob edien t servant , Sam Houston . 

Somervell began or gani zing his a rmy by ordering 

the various detachments in a nd around Sa n Ant onio to 

concen t r at e at t he mi ss i on San Jose f o r the purp o se of 

s et t ing up a p ermanent organ i zat i on . The newly organized 

8sam Hous ton to Gene r a l Alexand er Somervell , 
Writing s o f Sam Hous t on , III , 170- 171 . 
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f orce was to be made up of wo regiments of 600 men each . 

There was an element of division in the ranks with 

many of the militiamen desiring to return home while some 

of the volun eers wanted to march o the Rio Grande and 

beyond if necessary . Such a division was to plague Somer ­

vell's army from the beginning . Some of this dissension 

was caused by the long delay in the ar riva l of Somervell 

hims elf o which was now added the time needed to organize 

the army and make preparations for the march . Some of 

the men who had been in San Antonio since the evacuation 

of General Wol l were still angry that they had not been 

permitted to either win a decisive victory over Woll or to 

pursue him . Additional discontent arose due to General 

Somervell ' s conduct during the two weeks he made his head ­

quar ters in San Antonio . Somervell accepted he hospi -

tali y of some of he same exican families who had ex­

tended their h osp i tal i t y to General Woll before him . 

Somervell was also cri ized for attending nightly fandangoes 

and dancing with black- eyed senorit a s , activi i es which 

were forbid den by some of he militia units in his command . 

These were small matters compared with the real 

t h reat to Somervell ' s command which was the desire of s ome 

of his officers to command he expedition t hemselves . 

They were dissatisfied with Somervell's performance and 

felt that there was " indifference and lack of interest " 
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on his part toward the operation . 9 There was also the 

f act tha many of Somervell ' s men openly expressed their 

preference for General Edward Burleson as commander of 

the army . Such dissension was to pervade the expedition 

fr om San Antonio to Laredo . Later some of these men would 

accuse Somervell of failure to carry out t h e spirit if not 

the l e ter of his orders . Included among these men would 

be the leaders of the Mier phase of the expedition . One 

of he most common reasons g i ven by members of the Mier 

expedit i on f o r refusing to r eturn wi th Somervell was the ir 

dissat isfact i on with his conduct o f the expedi i on up to 

tha t i me . In f a irness to Somervell it must a ls o be n oted 

t hat others felt him to be competent and ,1an officer of 
10 

cour age and abil i ty " . 

The g r oup whi c h objected most to Some r ve ll ' s 

delays was the draf ees . They felt that they had been 

called out f or nothing more than a show of f o r ce and , as 

a res ul t , began to desert . The seriousness of this prob lem 

intens ified wh en the "northers" and rains came , as ma ny 

of h e men did not have suffi c ien t clothin g , bla nke t s , or 

even shoes . As the men g r ew more r eb e llious and d is o r der ly 

under these conditions , it be came clear that a move one 

way or another would h av e to be made soon . 

9 
William Prest on Stapp , Prisoners of Perote , 20 . 

10 
Ibid . 
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On October 16 , Secretary of War Hamilton dispatched 

a l etter to Somervel l : 

I t is a matte r of surprise as we ll as r egret , 
that no reports have be e n re ce ived of you relative 
to your progress and movements , when (opportunities ) 
daily are offered y ou by men leaving your encamp ­
ment f or the ir homes . This dep a rtment is i gnorant , 
except f o r rumor from men in camp of t h eir cond i ­
tion for service -- the quant ity of supplies on hand 
or the prospect of procuring them . 

It has been represented t hat the whole 
number of men i n camp wil l not exceed six hundred ; 
and that a part of them will not report in - a s - much 
as they do not understand c l early the character 
of y our o r de r s - - that t h ey a re not disposed vo l un ­
tarily to join the expedition o r t he f orce ; and 
further that of both ammunition a nd provisions are 
insufficient . I am under the necessity of making 
the inquiry whether these rumors be true , bec a use 
y ou h a v e f ailed to keep t h e department info rme d 
of the state o f t hings . Your orders were to 
nei ther mus er into service nor iss ue supplies 
of any kind to any but t h ose who reported with a 
firm res o lve to c r os s the Rio Grande if required 
to do so . 

It was expected that those who were anxi ous 
to en t er the enemies ' erritory were prepared to 
march immediate ly upon t heir organizat i on which 
should have b een completed when they r epor ted 
themselves . Those who were not disposed to 
join the expedition should h ave departed instant ly 
for their homes . It wa s not the design o f the 
Government to keep an undisciplined and dis ­
organi z ed army stationed on the frontier merely 
for the purpose of consuming the little substance 
r emaining o f a p opulation already nearly r educed 
to s tarvation . 

Your communi cat i on of the 7th inst . has just 
been received ; but it affords no informat i on as 
to the number of men at y our encarnpmen . How are 
they supplied? When y ou can prob ably take up the 
line of march , o r whether it wil l be prac i cable 
with the f o r c e which y ou a re likely to have at 
your c ommand , to carry ou t at this advanced sea s on 
of the year , the objects cont emplated . It is , 
you will see the necessity of promp t a nd energet i c 



movement . If i is n o J why it is hoped tha 
y ou wil l see the propriety of disbanding the 
tr oops at once . They have now been on the 
f rontier six weeks , and seemingly a s li tt le 
prepared i or the march as when they first 
arrived . 1 
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The Army o f t he Sou thwes was also h ampe red by 

the att i ude of the c i t i zens of San Anton io . The p eople 

of the city had been more wil ling to furnish munitions 

to General Wol l than they we r e to g ive t hem to the Texan 

army . When the munitions were reques t ed by the Texa ns , 

the civi zens demanded an exorbitant pric e in silver whi ch 

so aroused the mili t i a from Montgome ry Count y that most 

of t h em l eft wi t h only Lieut enant Co lone l Joseph L . Bennett ) 

the commander , a nd s eventy men r emaining . General Somer ­

vel l refused to requisition the peop l e of San Antonio for 

the munitions whi ch caused more grumb ling . The men 

beli eved the supplies ) which had been left behind by Woll , 

were ample for al l of heir needs . 

There has been some spe cul at ion t hat Somervell's 

delay in aking up t he march wa s due tc b a d weather and 

high wa er . This may be true in part ) but there was also 

the f act t hat the men o f t he Army of the Southwest were 

scattered ove r a wide area a round San Antonio . Somervel l 

was also unwise in his select i on of officers . He combined 

Ca pta in Ha ys ' spy company with a detac hment under Captain 

11 
M. C. Hamil ton o Brig . Gen . Alexander Some r ve ll ) 

November 9 , 1842 , Wrj_ting s of Sam Houston ) III , 19 3 - 194 . 
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Bogart , which caused much jealousy between them . Hays 

had a smaller group than Bogart but held the senior 

commission so he was given command of the combined units 

with ins ructions to assign an equal number of men from 

each unit on every mission . In Hays ' ab sence t he combined 
12 

units would be commanded by Captain Bogart ; this might 

have worked excep t t hat the instruct ions were violated 

several times by Somervell himself . 

The firs t movement of the a r my was to the nearest 

poin t on the Me dina River where it would await the arrival 

of cannon fr om Gonzales . After waiting another two weeks 

for the cannon , Somervell decided to leave i t behind . It 

wa s doubtful t hat he cannon could have been carried h a d 

it reac hed the a cmy on schedule . The delay involved in 

wai ting for the cannon served to irritate the troops even 

more . Up to this point hey doub t ed whether the Republic 

of Texas was really serious about the exped i tion to the 

s outhwest . 

The Mexic a ns took the Texan movement quite 

seriously . The Army of the North voiced great concern f or 

12samuel A . Bogart fought in the battle of New 
Orleans a nd the Blac k Hawk War in Illinois . He came to 
Texas in 1839 . He served under John C. Hays . He repre ­
sented Harri s County in the second legislature (1847- 1848 ) . 
He was a member of the Know - Nothing p a rty a nd endorsed 
Sam Hous on ' s st a nd against secession . He died near 
McKinney on a r ch 11 , 186 1 . Ha ndbook of Texas , I , 181 . 



the safety of the northern Mexican settlements . General 

Reyes, commander of the Army of the North , appealed to 

the Mexicans along the Rio Grande to rise up and defend 
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the r exican territory against Texan vandalism . He pro­

mis ed his superiors i n Mexico City that should Texas send 

an army into exico it would be severely punished . Reyes 

then moved his headquarters to Pase de Aguilo and stationed 

troops along the Nueces and Rio Grande Rivers to watch for 

the enemy . General Woll was ordered to posi tion himself 

at Lamp asas . The immediate response of the Mexican army 

to the Texan threat was to watch and wait . 13 

Somervell left the Medina on November 18 following 

the El Camino Real from San Antonio to Laredo . The army ' s 

morale h ad improved because of the departure of most of 

those who were most critical of the organization of the 

expedition . The problem for the army now wa s to decide 

just where to attack the Mexicans first . General Somervell ' s 

or i ginal plan called for an attack upon the outpost of San 

Fernand o de Rosas thirty- eight miles west and slightly 

n orth of General Reyes ' headquar ers at Presidio del Rio 

Gr ande . Somervell ' s intelligence sources had reported 

t hat Reyes had 800 men at San Fernando and Vasquez had 

200 at Morelos . His sources further reported that 300 

t r oops were stationed at ~atamoros , 100 at the mouth of 

13Nanc e , Attack and Counterattack , 481 -482 . 



of the Rio Grande and 100 at Brazos Santiago . 
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As a result of this informat ion Somervell decided 

not to attack San Fernando because he lacked sufficient 

manpower . It was decided that under the circumstances 

the mo st favorable poin of attack was Laredo . Presiden t 

Houston con urred that the attack against Presidio was 

unfeasible but suggested another alternative in a letter 

to Somervell dated November 23 . 

If you advance to the Rio Grande you 
have not indicated he point on which you 
design making an impression . It seems to 
me that unless your information is much better 
than mine , the Presidio is much out of he 
way . It may, however , be proper , as I do not 
know your p articular object , further than to 
distress the enemy o the greatest ex ent 
possible . It appears to me thaJ Camargo would 
be the point at which you would be least 
expected , and where the greatest impression could 
be made on the cow1 ry . The most effi c ien t 
force of the enemy will be at the Presidio . 
You will find the Cherokees , and he warriors 
associated with them , the most efficient and 
dangerous that you could encounter on the other 
side of the Rio Grande . They are located in 
the neighborhood of Presidio . 

The suggestions of spies , touching the 
abundance of supplies in the neighborhood of 
the Presidio , or on any part of the Rio Grande , 
I would no t rely upon ; and less at that poin 
than any other . The fact of Woll 1 s army having 
been mustered and sustained there for a time , 
and falling b ack again after the Campaign at 
that point , is my reason for discrediting heir 
r eport . Supplies have never been considered 

14 
Repor of Brig . Gen . A . Somervell to the Hon . 

G. W. Hill , Secretary of War and Marine in Texas Congress , 
Journals of the Ninth Congress of the Republic of Texas . 
Appendix 70 - 71 . Diary of JosephD~cCutcheon . -
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a bunda n t anywhere on that river . But in relat i on 
o t he se subjects your opp ortunit ies for informa ­

tion a r e be tter than mine ; and I reg re t exc eeding ly 
that y ou h ave not been more c irc umstan t i al on 
your details of infor mat i on . I h a d no idea that 
the season would have been permit ed to advan ce 
so f a r before act ive operat ions would have been 
commenced ; or if it h ad been inpracticable to 
accomplish anything i t would have been proper 
that the men should have returned to their h omes 
and lef t unconsumed the subsistence ) that would 
have been available to sus tain a sma l l er force ) 
which might h ave been useful as well as necessary . 
Unless men a re marshalled GO cross the Rio Grande ) 
and with t h at knowledge and determination ) the 
design as well a s the wishes of the government 
wi ll no t be carried out . The orders upon this 
subject h a ve been explanatory as well as positive . 15 

Whe t her Houston ' s letter h ad a ny influence upon 

Somervell is n ot clea r) but i n any even t i t wa s decided 

the Texan point of attack would be Laredo . 

Four days a f ter leaving the Med i n a the Army of the 

Southwes t f oun d itself for c ed t o make its way through a 

b og whi ch proved to be several miles long . Thi s caused 

severe damage to some of the horses of the army . Somervell 

r epor t ed : 

The hor s es were so mater i al l y i njur ed by 
t he i r exertions to p a s s through this continuous 
de e p and tenac ious mass that they were ever 
a f terward unable hroughou the camp a i gn ) to 
make tho se quick marches essent i al to the 16 
accompl i shment of the object of t h e campaign . 

15Hous ton to General Alexander Some r ve ll) Washing­
ton ) November 23 ) 1842 ) Writ i n g s o f Sam Houston , III ) 201-
202 . 

16 
Geo r ge Lord ) Mi er Reminiscences . Si gned 

Affi davit ) 2 . 



45 

Desp i te some difficulties the Army of the South­

wes t stayed ogether until it reached La redo , but this 

should no be to the cred i t of General Somervel l . He 

permitted dissension amon g hi s offi cers to con t inue and 

seemingly did everything he could to impede the prog ress 

of the expedi t i on a nd discourage t he me n without being 

consp ic uous about it . 

The march to Laredo wa s plagued t hroughout by 

misfor tune and unfavo r ab le conditions . Cross ing the 

Nueces the Army o f he Southwest wa s confronted by high 

water f orcing t hem to build a bridge which caused further 

delays . At his point there occurred an incident that 

was to justify a charge o f b ad f a i th not only against 

Genera l Some rve ll but a lso against t he President of the 

Republi c as well . A member of the expedition overhea rd 

an exchange between General Somervell and some of his 

sub ordinate officers . General Somervell wa s heard to 

declare that he had received a dispatch from Presiden t 

Houston bidding him t o break up the expedition a t any 

cost . Somervell then asked his captains , 11 What is to be 
17 18 

d one? 11 He was answered by Colonel Cooke who s a id : 

17Ibid . , 2 . 
18 

Willi am G. Cooke , a Virginia n , came to Texas in 
1835 and continued in the service o f the Republic until 
1837 . He re - enlis ted in 1839 re c eiving a commission as 
quartermaster- genera l of the Republic . He was a member of 
the c ivil branch of the Santa Fe Expedi t ion . La ter app o inted 
adjutan t - general o f the mili t i a , Cooke served until 1847 . 
Handbook of Texa s , I , 406 . 



abandoned the city) the Army of the Southwest entered 

Laredo on December 8) 1842 . 
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Af t er conferring briefly with the Mexican authori ­

ties in La redo Somervell marched his a rmy one and a half 

miles nor th of the city to encamp . The troops Kere greatly 

disapp ointed by this move a s they h a d expected to march 

across the river int o Mexico . When the order to cross t he 

river was not given ) he troops bega n to have doubts again 

and mora le sank to a new low . Some of them contended that 

Somervell's refusal to order the army across the river was 

due t o the influence of Colonel Cooke ) who i t was feared 

was plotting to take command of the army for himself . 

Aside from the suspicions of Cooke the majority 

of the men agreed that Somervell was p ass ing up a great 

oppor junity by not crossing the Rio Grande immediately . 

As one of t hem expressed it ) 11 The main r oad down the Rio 

Grande was on t h e west side ) a nd the crossing at Laredo . 

Why did the General not cross the river at that point and 
22 

take the main r oad ) was the inquiry in everyone ' s mouth . " 

One group of five men went with General Green 

ac r oss the river to the town of Galveston and planted the 

Texas fl ag here in the name of the Republic . They de ­

manded that he townspeople give them five mules . Upon 

22 
Thomas Jefferson Green ) Journal of the Texian 

Expedi ti~n Against Mier ) 55 , 
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r eceiv i ng the mules they recrossed the ri ver and re turned 

to camp . The i r r e a s on for t hese act s was t hat they fel t 

f a i lure to cross the Ri o Gr ande would be a d is g r ace 11 up on 

23 our Coun r y and upon ourse lves . 11 Green l ate r cla ime d 

that Colonel Bra v o and some of h is t r oops were in Galveston 

at the time of h is c r os sing 

any of t he other s in the exp ed i t i on r e c orded 

sent i men s simila r o t hos e of Gene r a l Green in their 

dia rie s and j our nals . They c l a i me d t hat a ma j ori t y of t he 

soldie r s in t he a rmy o f t he Southwe s t f a vored go in g into 

Me x i co at lea s t a s a s ymb olic gesture . Failure t o se t 

foo t on Mexican s oil would b e an une qual response t o t he 

previ ous a ction o f e x i co . The ma j o ri t y of the men o f 

the Army of t he Sout hwes fel t t hey mus t ha ve a t least 

thi s mu c h t o s how the people b ac k h ome o r be c onsidered 

f ailure s . To t hem, succ e ss of t he mission seemed to res t 

on an i nvasion o f Mexico n o ma tter h ow eff ec t i ve . 

Each man h a d his own pers on a l mot i ves a nd there 

we r e almos t a s many of these a s t roops on t he mu s t er rol l s . 

Some of t hem like Ewen Ca me ron felt t h a t the s overeignty of 

Te xas should ext end to the Rio Gra nde a nd beyond . 0 h e rs 

like Willi a m S . Fisher were ve te r a ns o f the Federalist 

23Ibid . , 56 . 
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wars and had old scores to settle with the Mexicans . 24 

25 
There wer e men like Dr . Brenham who had been on the 

Santa Fe Expedi ~i on and desired revenge f o r the ha rdships 

imposed upon them during the ir captivity . Fina lly there 

were thos e like General Green who fel t the honor of Texas 

could be a venged only by attacking t he enemy on his home 

ground . Rega rdless of their personal motivation they felt 

it necess a ry for t he Army of the Southwest to cross to the 

s ou h bank of the Rio Grande before the ir campaign could 

be considered a success . 

Such discontent wa s undoubtedly the unde rlying 

cause of the plunder of Laredo . The objectives of t he 

expedition , as one member expressed them , were : 

.. to meet t he enemy and exchange a 
few shots to achieve something that would at 
least erase the sigma caused by the recent 
inroads of the Mexicans and avenge in some 
manner the cruelty practiced upon her citizens ; 
also to capture cit i zens of Mexico to give in 
exchange f o rn~hose taken by General Woll at 
San Antonio . c. 

24 
William S . Fisher came to Texas in 1834 fr om 

Virginia . He participated in the Battle of San Jacinto in 
1836 . He was Secreta ry o f War from December 1836 to Nov ­
emb er 1837 . He was appointed lieutenant colonel of a 
f r on ie r cavalry regiment in 1837 . He p a rticipated in the 
Council House Fight i n 1840 . In 1840 he l ed a company of 
200 men to join t he Army of the Republic of the Rio Grande . 
He wa s a Captain in t he Somervel l Expedition . He died in 
J ackson County in 1845 . Handbook of Texa s , I , 603 . 

25Richa rd F . Brenham came to Texas fr om Kentucky in 
1836 . He wa s one of the leaders of the Santa Fe Expedition 
in 1841 . He was captured with he rest and released in 1842 . 
Handbook of Texas , I , 213 . 

26Harvey Alexander Ad a n1s , Expedi ion Against the 
Sou hwest , 1842 and 1843 , I , 45 - 4 . 
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That t h e seizing of plunder wa s pre - planned i s denied by 

all the wri ers who recorded the affair . The record of 

t he Army of the Southwest was damaged by the plunder of 

Laredo . Upon the entry of the Army of the Southwest into 

Laredo requisitions had been made and duly filled . On the 

foll owing day , a group of Texan soldiers entered the City 

of Laredo and demanded more supplies . The Alcalde said 

that if the soldiers would make out regular requisitions , 

h e would proceed to tax all the citizens according to 

what they h ad . Many of the men were not willing to wait 

this tedious operation and instead went into houses and 

stores and forcibly took as many things as they could lay 

their hands on . They broke down doors , opened boxes and 

trunks , and took blankets wherever they could find them, 

"even fr om the beds of women leaving them to weep the 

f ate of their unhappy l ot .
1127 

The men f ound the location of the commissary stores 

and ransacked them . There was such a mad stampede into 

the commissary store that it was surprising that none of 

the men were seriously hurt . From the commissary the 

Texans took large quantities of shuck cigarettes . 

The pillage continued until the middle of the 

afternoon when the men were ordered back to camp under 

guard . The men were then ordered to depos i t in a pile 

27Green , Journal of the Texian Expedi ion Agair.st 
Mier , 57 . 



whatever they had taken . They gave up such a r t i cles as 

sadd les , blanke s , soap , candles , f lour , sugar , pelonca , 

book s , baby clothing, bedding , pillows , cushi ons and 

cigaret es , which were returned to he p eople at Laredo . 

There were char ges and cou.nte r charges made by 

offici a ls who l ater t ried to fix blame for the Laredo 

incident . Sam Houston ac c used Genera l Green of lea ding 

the r oops . Green pleaded innocen t a nd placed the blame 

on the fr u s t r at ion of the men . 

Most of the en had been away from heir 
homes f or three months ; they had been promised 
time a f ter t ime to be led agains t the enemy ; 
they had been promised that when they re ached 
the Rio Grande they should h ave a ll necessary 
supplies . 
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The men s aw pla inly that their three months 
toil was to be swa llowed up in the glory of ge tt ing 
a vi ew of the Rio Grande , and then making a hasty 
and disgracefu l fli ght back home; and wi hout 
provisions to take them there . Under t his stat e 
of thing s a portion of them entered the t own , 
and took , among abs o lute necessi~~es, many 
articles of a useless cha racter . 

The r a ns a cking of La redo is an indication of the 

dissat isfa ction with General Somervell's conduct of the 

expedi tion . Only sixty men a re said to have taken part 

in the affair , but they were se c retly suppor t ed by a 

large r number who refra ined from p a rti c i pat i on in the 

pillaging . 

Following the plunder of Laredo the Army of the 

Sout hwest wi t hdrew some dist ~nc e f a rther fr om the city . 

28Ibid . , 58 . 
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On the n e x t day armed ran cheros appeared on the opposite 

b ank of t he Rio Gr ande , but no action was initiated by 

either sid e . His men became so agitated that General 

Somervell decided to let t he men determi ne their own f ate . 

He ordered all wh o wi shed to cross the Rio Gr ande to f o r m 

on one hill and those who wished to re turn home on ano t her . 

He promised them that i f enough men desired to cross the 

Ri o Grande he woul d cont inue to carry on t he campaign . 

1any of the men were r epor ted to have protested making a 

deci s i on a t that t ime but 540 men voted for a con t inuat i on 

of the exped i t i on and 200 voted to return home . The re ­

organiz a tion caused by allowin g t h ese men to leave t he 

army caused fur t h e r delay . 

Green contends in his account that if Somervell 

had immediately c rossed the Rio Grande ins tead of delaying , 

"he would have taken every town down to Reynosa , a n d 

created such universal panic in that country as to have 

caused t h e enemy to evacuate Matamoros and f all b ac k on 

Tampi co , leaving the f ormer city entirely exposed . 1129 

Whe t h e r he wa s correct or n ot , ce r tainly t he delay did not 

favor the Texan army . The dec ision o put the question 

of crossing the Rio Grande up to the me n shows great 

indecision on the p a rt of the army ' s commander . 

The men who elected to sta y wi t h the expedi t ion 

and cross into Mexico were r equired to sign a pledge . 

29
Ib id . 
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We the undersigned agre e to cross the Ri o 
Grande for the purpose of waging war on Mexico . 
We also agree to be governed s rict ly by the 
rules and articles of the government of the 
armies of this Republ i c , and especia.l l y to 
abstain from depredations on the property o r 
dis turbing the person of unarmed c itizens . And 
that all offenses of his kind shal l be p unished 
as the a r ticles of war direct . All property 
captured fr om the enemy shall be equa lly dis ­
tributed between the o ffic ers and t he s o ldiers . 
The commanding General shall make requisi t ions 
and give orders f or whatever supplies be re ­
quired by the army . We al s o pledge outse lves 
to sus tain the officers in all their effor t s 
to enfor ce orde rs and t he r u les and regulat ions 
of t he servic e gene r a lly . 11 30 

According to one account Colonel Cooke resigned 

his command at this time . His reason wa s that : 

He was unwilling to rema in in t he 
resp ons ible offi ce ... when such insub ­
ordinat ion as he had witnessed wa s s a nct ioned 
by his superior s ; he declared t hat he had 
witnes sed Gene r al Somervell laughing with 
indifference at the disobedience of his own 
orders , and that suc ce ss c§~ld not attend a n 
expedi t i on hus conducted . 

General Somervell decided to proceed down the Rio 

Grande a long the e a s t bank to a point opposi t e the town 

of Guerrero , a shor t dist a nce fr om Laredo . Somervel l 

p l anned to cross the river at this point and occupy the 

town of Guerrero . It wa s there that the Army of the 

Southwes t firs t confr onted the Mexi can Army , but Somervell 

30copy in Stat e Department (Texas ) Department of 
Stat e Litle Book , Horne Le t ers , II (1842 - l b46) , b9 - 71-. -

311ernucan Hunt to Francis J . Moore , Jr . Edi or of 
the Houston Telegraph dated Bexar J a nua ry 8, 18 3 , 
r ornins Sar Hous on , J anua ry 17 , 1843 . 
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refus ed to give b att le . Th e cha llenging for c e were 300 

Mexi can Defe n sor e s 32 under t he comma nd o f Colonel Ca na les . 

After sun se t , on the s a me d a y , Ca n a les a nd his men with ­

drew . 

Ea rly on the morning of December 15th t he Alc a lde 

of Guerr e r o appe a red before t he Texa n a rmy and agreed to 

pla ce the town at the disp o sal of the Army of the Southwest 

and to c omply with a ny requisiti on its commander might make , 

provided t here was no looting or pilla ge of the town . 

Gener a l Somervell submitted a requisition to him but the 

failure of the city to fill it satisfa ctori l y led to his 

further dema nd for $5 , 0 0 0 i nstead of t he goods . The 

Alc a lde could only produce $381 which Somervell refused 

re sulting in frustration for the Texan soldiers that they 

had got t en nothing . 

Surely, argued they , if t he interpretation 
the Mexicans themselves had practica lly asserted 
in Texas ( f o r a victorious enemy over a van ­
quished one ) were to be carried ou , not a pound 
of provisions , a cent of treasure , or bill o f 
goods to be found within ra~ge of our conquest , 
but were legitimate spoils . 3 

Indeed the situa tion was so acute with 11 s uch 

univers a l confusion and discontent that it was late and 

with difficulty t h at discipline was sufficiently restored 

32nefensores , Mexican r ural defense force . 

33stapp , Prisoners of Perot e , 30 . 



55 
34 

to p arade a guard . '' This was undoubtedly the primary 

re ason that Some rvell decided he should proceed no further 

down the river . Fur thermore General Somervell concluded 

that i t would be uns ound strategy a nd possibly disastrous 

to r emain upon the Rio Grande any longer . As Somervell 

saw i t , Mexican f orces concentrated at Sa n F e rnando to 

the No r th a nd Matamoros to the South made fur ther operations 

on the Rio Grande militarily unfeasible . This was 

especially true in fi ew of the f act that discipline had 

deteriorated so badly a nd con tro l o f the men h ad be come so 

mar gina l . 

Having made his d ec ision , General Somervell issued 

an order on December 19 h stating that troops of the Army 

of ~h e Southwest would take up the march at 10 A . M. f or 

the junct ion of t h e Rio Frio and the Nue ce s River , thence 

proceed to Gonzales where the army would be officially dis ­

b anded . This order provoked a hostile r eaction from some 

of the troops who f elt c heat ed because they had n ot , as 

yet, acquired any material profi t fr om the expedition . 

They wanted to continue to r aid the Mexi can towns along 

the river . Others felt they had not gotten revenge against 

Mexic o for the raids into Texas . There were s till others 

who were curi ous as to the reasons f or General Somervell's 

reluctance to push on . 

34Nance , Attack a nd Counterattack , 558 . 



One histori a n has c oncluded tha t another crisis 

aros e a t t his time bec a use , "genera l problems had never 

b een solved and t h e re is reas on to believe that the 

adminis t r a tion never expe cted them to be solved . Very 

li ttle energy h a d been shown by the commanding offic er 
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in prose c uting the campaign . 11 35 This authority has gone 

so f a r as to pronounce the expedition a purely p oli t i cal 

ma neuver to placate demands by the western fr on t iersmen 

for some sort of act i on agains t Mexi co and t o demonstrate 

the unfeasibility of op erat i on agains t t hat country while 

the government of Texas was unable to provid e adequate 

supp o r t f o r such an op e r ation . 

The Army of the Southwest was in its fin a l s tage 

and the result of this crisis would be the Mier expedition . 

It is at this p o in t that s ome histor i ans would draw the 

line between t he Somervell phase and the Mier phase a nd 

decl a re each a separate campaign . These his torians h a ve 

said the men who pushed on to Mier divested themselves of 

the protect i on of the ir government . They h a ve accepted 

the posi t i on of Presiden t Houston that those who elec ed 

to continue the expedition without Some rvell a s their 

commander were a ut omat ic a lly deserters when they marched 

on Mier . 

35sterling Hendricks , 11 ar r at ive of the Somervell 
Expedi t i on '', Southwestern Historical Quarterly . XXIII 
(1919- 1920 ) . 1~5 -
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That omervell and one hundred men returned home 

is a fact . To the three hundred men who stayed on the 

Rio Grande to continue operations against Mexico ) he gave 

his permission . This is attested to by several of the 

men who chose to remain on the Rio Grande l one of whom 

was George Lord who relates : 

While we encamped at the Texas side of the 
Rio Grande opposite the town of Guerrero ) Aexico 
a party of men gathered around the camp of 
Captain Cameron and engaged in discussing the 
enterprise as to crossing the Rio Grande for the 
avowed purpose of whipping t e Mexican forces 
under the command of General Ampudia a.nd 
capturing exican prisoners to exchange for he 
San An onio prisoners who were then in the 
hands of the enemy . General Somervell was 
asked his permission to execute this enter ­
prising yet hazardous undertaking . The General : s 
r eply was J ''I give you my permission to go and 
take the boats that belong o my command and I 
only wish that I could go ) but Q~rcumstances 
prevent me from going wi th you . j 

Wi th these words Somervell departed leaving with he 

men who stayed behind his apparent sanction of the operation 

upon which they were about to under ake . In this manner 

Somervell put the seal of the Republic of Texas on an 

action that its chief execu ive would later disavow and 

whose participants he would call bandits and filibusters . 

4. 
36 · · f th M. E d . . George Lord ) Reminisences £_ _ _ e ier xpe i ion ) 



CHAPTER IV 

THE BATTLE OF MIER AND ITS AFTERMATH 

The men who chose to cont inue the campaign against 

Mexico had to reorganize . Colonel Williams . Fisher was 

elected to be commander of the army and Thomas J . Green 
1 

was chosen to be his deputy . Both of them had always 

f a vored he continuance of he expedition and Fisher was 

particularly suited to command it , having fought in the 

Federalist Wars of 1838- 1839 as a member of the army of 

the Republic of the Rio Grande . 

Colonel Green coITLmanded the flotilla of fl atboats 
' 

acquired a Lared o and Guerrero as it moved down the Rio 

Grande in conjunction with the land army . With a solid 

r ed b a nner fluttering fr om his flagship Green's flotilla 

captured and burned several boats along the way . It also 

captured and disarmed a band of Karankawa Indians . The 

fl atboats were beached and abandoned when the army reached 

a point opposite Mier . 

1 
Thomas Jefferson Green came to Texas from Florida 

in 1832 . He organized the Texas Land Company but a bandoned 
the project to serve in the Texas army . He was commissioned 
Brigadier - General and returned to the United States ore ­
crui volun teers . He represented Bexar Coun yin the House 
o f Representatives and in the Senate o f t he Second Congress . 
Af ter escaping fr om Perote he re urned to Velasco and re ­
presented Brazoria Cour,ty in the Eighth Congress . He moved 
to California and sponsored the bill c reat ing he University 
of California . He returned to North Carolina and died 
there in 1863 . Handbook of Texas , I , 728 . 
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Fishe r's command r eache d a p o int seven miles from 

the city of Mi e r on Dec emb e r 21 , 1842 . 
2 

Ben McCulloc h 

was s en t a h ead t o d e e rmine the s tate of a ff a i rs in Mier . 

He repor ted that Co l on e l Ca na les a nd his Presidi a l forces 

h ad a lre ady evac uated the c ity but tha fresh troops were 

expe c ted b a ck a a ny moment . On the b a sis of this informa ­

ti on Co l onel Fisher decided to enter the c i t y immediately 

before it could be reinforced . Furthermore , h e had only 

enough supplies for a few more days and he wanted to 

replen i sh them in case hi s sma ll arwy had to make a hasty 

retreat n orthward . 

Another group dec i ded to return h ome at this time 

r ather than cont i nue with the exped i tion . A number o f 

them took a route which led them oppos i te Mier while 

the resulting battle was in progress . Harvey Adams who 

was wi t h t his detachment recalled hearing the sounds o f 

2 
James (Be n) McCul l oc h came to Texas fr om Tennesse e 

and joined Sam Houston ' s army in 1836 . He p a r i c ipated in 
t h e Battle o f San Jacinto . Elected to Congress in 1839 
h e continued his mili tary act ivi t ies . He p a r t i c ipa ted in 
the Plum Creek F i ght and the Somervell Expedition . He 
served as a s cou t for John C. Hays ' rangers . He served 
in the f i r st le g i slature of Texas and l ed a spy compa ny 
of r an gers under Za chary Taylor in t h e Mexican Wa r . He 
went to Californ i a in 1852 . In 1853 he was a ppo inted 
United States Marshall . He helped set le the Mormon 
t r ouble in 1857 . McCul l och was commissione d a Brigader ­
Genera l in the Con f edera te Army in 1861 . He was killed 
i n the Ba tle of Elk Horn in 1862 . Jack W. Cunn , "Ben 
McCulloch : A Bi g Captain , " Southwestern Hi stori ca l 
Quar terly LVIII , No . l , 1- 21 . 



the battle and gave his report of the ir reaction : 

I suppose i t to have b een about ten o r 
eleven o ' clock in the day our ears were g reeted 
wi th the sound of cannon , which convinced us 
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we had wandered in the wilderness a n d got 
opposite Mier . Ce r tainly not more t h an one 
da y ' s travel from he place . We knew the battle 
h ad opened wi th the Mexicans a n d our b oys . 

Our b oys were wild with joy and wanted the 
Ca pta in to go to t h e ir relief a n d a ft er some 
reflect i on and consultation wi th the guides 
about his incapac ity in leading us in s uch a 
wild goose chase took t he lead himself and took 
up the mar ch in the opp os i te direction with our 
backs to t h e river . 3 

The belief that Fisher intended to return home 

himself afte r securing provisions was the reas on given 

for some of the men leaving the main army prior ~o the 

Battle of Mier . A member o f Ben McCulloch ' s scouting 

party said h at Fishe r informed t hem that they were free 

to le a ve as the rest of t he army would be going home 

shortly . If his was the real intention of Colonel Fisher 

why the attack on Mier? 

In 1842 Mier , Tamaulip a s , Mexico was the second 

r ichest town on the Rio Grande . By the standards of the 

day only Matamoros ou ranked Mier in terms of wealth . 

Mier was one of the best defended towns on the Rio Grande 

as well . Its buildings were fla - roofed with walls of 

b rea s height extending fr om the roofs . These were 

o riginally used a s defenses during Indian attacks . The 

3Ha rvey Alexande r Adams , J ourna l of the Sou hwestern 
Army , 70 . 
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town was buil on the side of a hill and commanded one of 

the more impor ant for son the Rio Grande known as Paso 

del Cantara . In December of 1842 Mier had a population 

of 6 , 000 o 8 , 000 inhabitants , including a f ew people of 

Ameri can bir h . The most signifi ant physical feature in 

the area aside from the Rio Grande was the Rio Alcantro 
4 

which flowed to the west of the town . 

On December 22 Colonel Fisher ordered his men to 

cross the Rio Grande to ente r Mier but to remember , "that 

they were upon an honorable service , and not one of 

pi llage , and that their country would look to hem for 

a soldier - like discharge of that service . 11 He further 

reminded them that the recent plundering of Laredo had 

had serious repercussions . Such incidents made a soldier 

unfit to perform his dut ies and created in him a burning 

4 
In 1842 Mier , Tamaulipas , Mexico was the second 

richest town on t he Rio Grande . By the standards of the 
day only Ia amoros outranked Mier in terms of weal h . 
Mier was one of the best defended towns on the Rio Grande 
a s well . Its buildings were fl at - roofed with walls of 
breast height extending from the roofs . These were 
o rigin~lly used as defenses during Indian attacks . The 
town was built on the side of a hill and commanded one of 
the more important forts on he Rio Grande known as Paso 
del Cantaro . In December of 1842 lier had a population 
of 6 , 000 to 8 , 000 inhabit~n s , including a few people of 
American birth . The most significant physical fe atur e i n 
the area aside fr om the Rio Grande was the Rio Alcantro 
which flowed to the west of he own . Thomas W. Bell , 
Mi er Expedi ion , 87 , and George Lord , Mier Reminiscences , 
Typescrip t A . Archives of the State of Texas , State 
Library , Aus in , Texas . 



desire to return home . After concluding his address 

Colonel Fisher led his troops into Mier . 5 
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Fisher ' s men were well received by the Alcalde 

and c i tizens of Mier . The Texans marched into the plaza 

and maintained good discipline while Fisher and Green 

conferred with the exican officials . The Mexicans were 

i nformed tha t he army wanted to requisition certain 

necessities from the townspeople and upon receipt of the 

goods their army would withdraw . When the Alcalde agreed 

to comply with the request of the Texan officers , Green 

made out a requisition which read : 

The alcalde of Mier will forthwith furnish 
and deliver at headquarters upon the Rio Grande 
the foll owing requisition for the use of the 
army , to wit : All the government stores of 
every kind, in c lud i~g cannon , small fire - arms , 
powder , le ad , munitions of war of every kind , 
tobacco, etc . ; also 5 days 1 rations for 1200 
men , to wi t : 40 sacks of fl our of 6 arrobas 
each , 1200 lbs sugar , 600 lbs coffee , 200 pairs 
of strong coarse ~hoes , 100 pair of pantaloons , 
and 100 blankets . b 

Up on receip t of the requisition the Alcalde pro­

ceeded to call upon the ci izens to fill the order accord ­

i ng to what they had . When the requisit i on was nearly 

f i lled , the Texans real iz ed that they had n o means of 

t r ansporting the supplies back to their camp . They were 

5Gr een , Journa l of the Texas Expedition Against 
Mier , 74-75 . 

6
Ibid . , 75 -76 . 



force d to return to camp without the supplies but were 

r eassured by the promise of the peop l e o f Mier to deliver 

the supplies to their camp the next morning . To insure 

their h onesty t h e Texans took the Alc alde to their camp as 

a hostage f or the s up p l ies . 

When they a rrived b ack at t he Texan camp the Alcalde 

asked permissi on to spea k to the commanding general . He 

h ad n ot yet reali z ed that he had already seen the whole 

Texan army in Mier and not a vanguard of a much larger 

i n vasion f orce . He promised once again that the requisition 

would be filled on the nex day . All the next day the 

Texa ns waited in vain for the townspeople of Mie r to b r ing 

their suppl i es . Two days later a prisoner was brought in 

who informed Colonel Fisher that the people of Mier had 

l oaded several wagons with suppl i es and started them down 

river to the Texan camp on the morning o f December 23 as 

p r omi sed . The wagons were stopped before they reached 

thei r destina tion by units of the r egular Mexican Army 

number i ng 700 men under Genera l Pedro Ampud i a . The Mexi cans 

h ad stationed themselves abou t two mi les down r i ver on the 

south bank to prevent any Texar. advance southeastward f rom 

Mier . 

Co l on el Fisher call ed a council o f war in whi ch i t 

wa s decided to cross the river and a ttack Ampudia ' s a r my . 

The c r ossing of the army was almost comp l eted when the 

fir st contact was made with he exican army by Captain 



Baker ' s spy company . They h ad two men Samuel H. Walker 

a nd Pat ri ck Lusk captured but sent word to Fisher tha 

they would h o ld their position until relieved . 
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The prisoners , Walker and Lusk , were taken back 

to the headquar ers of General Ampudia who had retreated 

to 1ier after the clash . Wa lker informed Ampudia that 

the Texan army wa s some three hundred strong whereupon 

Ampudi a declared , " they surely have not the audacity to 

7 
pursue and attack me in town ,' whereupon Walker replied 

that the Texans would pursue and attack Ampudia in hell 

if necessary . 

When the Texans discovered that the Mexicans had 

retreated to ier , their first impulse was to pursue them 

i nt) own immediately . This react i on was due in part to 

the fac t that five Texans had been taken captive by the 

Mexi cans . The a rmy ac ually began marching toward Mier 

but haled about one mile ou side the city after a brief 

exchange of fire wi h _exican sentries . By midnight of 

t h e 25th the Texan army had taken up positions on a high 

h i ll on the eas bank of the Rio Alcantro opposite Mier . 

The s i tuation of the Texan army at this time was 

s ummed up b y eneral Green who described it as follows 

in his journal : 

7 
Ib id . , 76 - 80 



The Rio Alc a ntro is a small but r a pid 
stream about sixty y a r d s in width , which 
forms a semi - circle upon the east side of 
Mier , the city being buil t in the curve . 
The positi on whi c h our r oops occupied was 
upon a high hill , difficult of descent and 
b etween he upper a nd lower crossings of 
the river . Here i t was necess a ry to feel 
our way with great caution a nd prof ound 
silence . The night being dark and dr i zzling 
wi th rain , he troops were ordered to sit 
and protect their arms from the damp until 
more couldgbe learned of the position o f 
the enemy . 

Two scouts were sent ou to draw t he fire of the 

Mexican pickets and divert t h eir atten t i on while Co l onel 

Gr een made his way along the bluff of the Rio Alcantro 

toward the lower cross i ng . On r eaching t he lower crossing 

Green discovered a body of Mexi can cavalry there , where ­

up on he re turned to the op of the bluff a n d secured per ­

mi ssion to lead an attack on them . He proposed that under 

c overing fir e from Captai n Baker ' s spy company he woul d 

s earc h f or another poin t of c r os sing between t h ose two 

occup i ed by the Mexican cavalry . 

Wh en Green reached t he river he signaled Baker to 

b e g i n the attack . The 4exi cans erroneously believed hey 

we re f ac ing the Texan main force and gave only a brief 

v o lley in re turn . Green slipped down the r i ver a nd f ound 

another suitable cross ing which h e marked wi ha red 

b a n dana a n d r eturned to the main f orce . During this brief 

8 
Gr een , Journal , 82 . 
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encounter Captain Joseph Berry fell down an embankment and 

suffered a broken th i gh . He was r escued by a detail sen 

back from camp under the command of Dr . J . J . Sinnickson9 

and moved to an abandoned house nearby where he remained 

un t il the battle of Mier began . 

After receiving Green ' s report as to the loc at ion 

of another point of crossing Colonel Fisher moved the 

army up river to that place and ordered it to cross the 

r iver iITL~ediate ly . The right wing wa s the first to cross 

and made contact wi h the exican pickets before the rest 

of the army h ad c r os sed the river . After a volley of 

about one hundred shots the Mexican pickets retreated . The 

Mexican cavalry commanded by Colonel Ramires had been 

ordered o charge the Texans but for some reason it failed 

to carry out i ts orders . While the Texans were occupied 

with this brief skirmish , the Alcalde of Mier made good 

10 
hi s escape . 

Once across the Rio Alcantro the objective of the 

Texan army was the Military Square in the center of Mier . 

Colonel Fisher and Colonel Green felt that this was the 

s tronghold of Ampudia ' s army . From where the Texans 

crossed the Rio Alc antro it was only fifty yards to the 

outskirts of the city . 

9John J . Sinnickson was a physician of Brazoria 
County . He came to Texas originally from ew Jersey . He 
was released by Santa Anna a the request of the Uni ed 
States Minister . Ibid . , 95 . 

l Oib id . , 86 . 



Colonel Green led a reconaissance party into Mier 

where it discovered that two field pieces were positioned 

directly in front of the Texans' r oute to the main plaza . 

However , he Mexicans had not yet completed preparations 

necessary for using the artillery . When Colonel Fisher 

was informed of the situation he ordered the right wing 

under Colonel Green to advance up the street upon which 

the cannon was placed . The righ wing executed the 

required maneuver and then opened fire on the Mexican 

11 troops at the other end of the street . 

The left wing also came under intense fire at 

about he same time as the right wing had exposed its 

posi ion by exchanging fire wi h Mexican infantry stationed 

on the h ousetops . However, the main objective of the 

Texans at this poi nt became a pla ce of refuge as a drizzl ­

i n g rain began to f a ll . The Texans broke contact and 

south to pro ect their arms and rep a ir those damaged as 

their rifles were of a type easily damaged by moisture . 

The ri ght wing was directed to occupy a row of 

houses upon the side of the street most menaced by the 

Mexican art illery which it accomplished by breaking down 

the corner doors and opening breaches in the dividing 

walls . As the Texas right wing was now within fifty yards 

of the Mexican artillery position , i t attempted to open a 

11 
Ibid . , 86 - 90 . 
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breach in t h e wall of the occupied building which would 

neu ralize the Mexican a r til lery . The Mexicans chose 

this t ime to concentrate their artil lery on them , whi ch 

aided the Texans in opening the breach . Once the breach 

was comple ed the Texans concen t r ated t heir fire on t he 

a r tillery position wi th devastating effect (55 out o f 60 
12 

wer e hit ) . 

The left wing of the Texan army had been d irected 

to occupy he opp osite r ow of houses . It seized t he 

build ing s and b r eached the wal ls al s o , putt ing them within 

fif ty y a rds of t he enemy . The Mexican a rtillery men , now 

caught in a c r os sfire b etween the two wings of the Texan 

army , were ne a rly all killed or wounded except f or the ir 

comma nder , Captain Castro . 

The Mexi can a rmy had been pushed b ack to the 

Mili tary Plaza with heavy l oss es while t he Texans had 

s uffered only one killed and two wounded . The Texan 

cow1nande rs h ad achieved much more than t hey had ant icipated 

on this first day of operations , b ut they had gone about 

a s far a s they could go a s t here was n ow only ab ou one 

13 
hour of da y l i ght left . 

At dawn the ~xic a n a rtillery position still l a y 

si lent a nd unoccupied while the ~exican s o ldiers h ad taken 

12
I bid . , 91 . 

l 3Ibid ., 93 . 
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posit i ons on he housetops confronting the Texans . From 

their vantage point t ey raked the Texans wi h musket fir e , 

and f or the first time the Texans began to 3ustai~ serious 

casual ies . Colonel Green ordered only the bes t shots in 

the army to return the 1exicans ' fir e and put the res t of 

t h e soldiers to work const r uct ing holes in the roof top s 

o f t he h ouses they were occupying . 

Fisher a nd Green were a lready planning their next 

mov e . The army would make simul a ne ous moves toward the 

p l aza with the right wing moving upon the Alcalde ' s office 

a n d the lef wing occupying a h ouse next to its present 

p osition s o it could p rovide covering fire . This house 

was held by s uch a large f orce of Mexicans t hat i would 

h a v e to be attacked fr om several different directions . 

Colonel Green a nd Cap a in Reese decided that more wall 

breaches were necessary to pro tec t Texan troops if hey 
14 

occupied more elevated p os iti on s . 

At t h is time another tragic episode in the Battle 

of Mi er took place . The Texans guarding the in j ured 

Captain Joe Berry were forced to make a dash of s ix hundred 

y a r ds to the Texan lines on the 1exican side of he Rio 

Alc antro . Up to this time the guard s had been l imited in 

the ir act i ons to observation of the b a ttle . As their 

posi tio~ had n ow become menaced by a troop of exican 

14 Gr een , Journa l , 91 . 
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cav~lry , hey opened fire on t he cavalry and f orced i ts 

withd r awal a f ter inflict ing eleven o r so casua l t ies upon 

them . The cava l r y soon returned with r ein f orcement s a n d 

a f i eld piece , le a ving the Texans n o choice but to attempt 

to break t hrough the Mexica n lines to reach the main b ody 

of the Texan army across he river . 

The guard charged t h e 1exi can cavalry and actually 

broke through the Mexican line , bu they h ad three hundred 

more y ards to go before reaching the Ri o Alcantro and 

s afety . The Texa ns were over aken half way to the r i ver 

by the Mexican cavalry a nd had to defend themselves wi t h 

h eir rifle but ts as t h e ir muskets were empty a nd there 

was n o time to reload . Five of the guards were killed , 

t h ree were captured , and wo mad e i t safely ac ross the 

Rio Alcan ro . Cap a i n Berry wa s b a yoneted and killed in 

hi s bed by the Mexi cans . Followi ng this incident the 

Me x ican cavalry commenced a victory ce lebration by shooting 

t h e ir guns and pranc i ng before the Texan army . 15 

While the Mexi can cavalry celebrated its victory 

s ome o f the Mexican troops charged the northern s i de of 

t h e Texa n po s ition which was under the personal command of 

Co l onel Fisher . The exicans were forced t o withdraw , but 

not b efore t h ey had i nflicted significant casualties upon 

the Te xans . Colonel Fisher was one of these , having the 

b a l l o f his r ight thumb cu off by a exi can musket ball . 

15Ibid . , 92 . 
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Until then the Mexican artillery positions had 

been unmanned because their artillery company had suffered 

heavy casualties . To prevent the seizure of the field 

piece by the Texans , the 4exican troops lassoed the field 

pie ces and dragged them to less exposed positions . Captain 

Cameron and his men however seized this opportun i ty o 

occupy a yard to the rear of the buildings held by the 

Texans . Cameron then went to Colonel Fisher personally 

and requested reinforcements o hold the courtyard . For 

Colonel Fisher this p~oved to be a dif f icult dec i sion . He 

was enduring physical suffering from his hand wound , and 

s everal other officers were pressing requests of their own 

f or re i nforcements at this same time . The situation was 

f inally brought under control when Colonel Green jumped 

upon a table and demanded order . While Green attributed 

t h e i ndecision of Fisher to his wound , others contended 

t hat Fisher had been hesitant in making the necessary 

decisions all day . One member of the army recorded that : 

Dur i ng the whole day Colonel Fisher 
was very i nactive , he appeared to be per ­
f ectly s upid . When he was asked what was 
best to do would give an evas i ve answer , he 
was asked frequently to let the men charge 
out and repulse the several charges of the 
e nemy although the order was g i ven by 
Capta i n Cameron . lb 

16D· f J A Gl k 89 S f the iary o 3.mes . a sscoc , . ome o 
wo r ds have been omit ed from this typescript which is in 
t he Archives o f he State of Texas in Austin , Texas . 



Whatever the cause o f Fi s her ' s confusion , Green restored 

order and dispatched reinfo r cemen s to Cameron whil e the 

r est of the force was ordered to defend t he buildings it 

already held . 

The Texans were now surprised to see Dr . J . J . 

Sinnicks on (who h ad just been captured with the guard of 

Captain Berry ) coming to thei r lines under a white flag . 

He explained that after int errogation by General Ampudi a 

he was to give the following message to Colonel Fisher : 

that h e must surrender wi h his whole 
force in five minutes or I will cause them all 
to be put to the sword , and give no quarter . 
that if he will cause his troops to lay down 
their arms , and surrender in that time , their 
lives sha ll be spared , with all humanity and 
defer ence due t hem as prisoners of war ; and 
fur t hermore , I will exercise my influence with 
the supreme government to prevent their being 
marched to the city of Mexico , but to have 
them reta ined east of the mount a ins until they 
are released or exchanged . 17 
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Fisher , according to Sinnickson , took a few minutes 

to consider as if he was in the process of making up his 

mind and then went over to Ryan a nd Camercn . He then 

called a council of the officers during which time a group 

of Mexic an officers entered the Texas lines . They 

approached Fisher and embraced him as they had known him 

b efore during the Federalist Wars . One of these men was 

Padre De Lire , he pries t o f Camargo , who had administered 

17 Gr een , J ournal , 474 . 
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the last rites to Fisher when he lay near death with small 

pox during the Federa list conflict . 

The Mexican officers assured Fisher that the terms 

of Ampudia would be scrupulously observed and Father De 

Lire pledged the honor of the Holy Mother Church to the 

observation of the terms of surrender . The padre pleaded 

with Fisher saying, irMy dear son , do not throw yourself 

away .
1118 

While this discussion was in progress the Mexican 

infantry had moved up from the west to within a few yards 

of he buildings occupied by the Texans . Colonel Green 

ordered the lead soldier sho and then shot two more him ­

self which halted the infantry ' s advance . Green then 

attempted to shoot the Mexican officers conferring with 

Fisher in order to prevent them fr om r eturning to their 

own lines with the information they now possessed as to 

he cond i tion of the Texan army but was prevented from 

doing so by Captain William Ryan and Colonel Fisher . 

Green then requested permission to take the officers 

prisoner and march them to the Texan camp across the Rio 

Grande but this was also refused . Captain Reese came for ­

ward and made a similar request which was l i kewise denied . 

The Mexican o fficers were a llowed to return ~o their lines 

after having granted the Texans one h our to dec i de whether 

or not to accept Ampudia ' s surrender terms . 

18 
Gr een , Journal , 98 . 
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The first impulse of the Texans was to continue 

the fight . However , after the departure of the Mexican 

officers some of them began o consider accepting the 

offer . Green , Ryan and Cameron were for fighting it out . 

Most of the wounded men urged , :rnever surrender 1119 and , 

others asked to be shot rather than be allowed to fall 

into the hands of the Mexicans . At this point a coun il 

of officers was called and altern at ives to surrender were 

discussed . 

The members of this council were Green , Cameron , 

Ryan , Reese , Pearson , Buster , Doctor Brenham and Judge 

Gibs on . Green presented a plan o f escape to t his group 

which called for marching the army back to the point where 

it had crossed the Rio Alcantro and then marching down the 

river to its confluence with the Rio Grande . From that 

point they would march up the Rio Grande to the Texan 

camp on the north bank . Green estimated that Texan 

casualties on such a march would be no more than fif y and 
20 

probably less than twenty . The Texans would be protected 

fr om the exican cavalry by the right bank of the Rio 

Alcantro and they would have nothing to fear from the Mexi ­

can infantry because the country was too broken and so 

i deally suited to the Texan rifles . This plan was not 

adopted . 

1 9Gr een , Journa l , 100 - 101 . 

20 I b i d . , 103 and Bell , Narrative of the Mier 
Expedition~ 
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As Colonel Green refused to accompan y Colonel 

Fisher to General Ampudia ' s headquarters to discuss the 

s urrender terms , Fisher met with Ampudia alone . During 

the time that Fisher was absent fr om his command his army 

mad e preparations for continuing the fight . Upon his 

r eturn the army was formed into companies and Fisher then 

addressed his men . He informed t hem of t he terms of 

s urrender and concluded his statement wi th the f o llowing 

r ema rks : 

I h a ve known General Ampudia for ye a rs -­
know him to be an honourable man , a nd will 
vouc h f or his carrying them out ; t h at if you 
are willing to accept h ese terms , you will 
ma rch into the public square and g ive up 
y our arms , or prepare f or battle in fi ve 
mi nutes ; that in any view o f t he case , y our 
situation is a gloomy one , for y ou cannot 
figh t y our way out o f t his place to the Rio 
Gr ande short of a l oss of two - thi rds o r 
p erhaps t he whole ; but if you are determined 
to f ight I will b e with you , and sell my 
life as dear as p os sible . 21 

Ap p r oxi mately half of he Texas troops started 

t oward the squa r e to lay down the i r a rms while those who 

r ema i ned behind he a ped i nsults upon them wi th such cries 

as "Go ! '' 11 1 hope y ou may never enjoy t he s i ght of your 

country a nd liberty again ! 11 and 11 Go , you cowards ! and rot 

in chains a nd sla very .
11 22 

Colonel Green had to be re ­

stra i ned from f i ring in o t he ma rchers who quietly passed 

21 
Gr een , Journa l , 102 - 103 . 

22Ib i d . , 10 3 . 



before him to their fate . Frustrated , Green smashed his 

rifle on he pavement . 

Colonel Green walked to the square and asked to be 

taken to General Ampudia personally . Upon meeting him 

Green handed over his empty sword belt and informed the 

General that he had opposed the surrender but had been 

overruled by his comrades and was now prepared for prison 

or death . Ampudia replied that he apprec i ated the feelings 

of brave men , that Green ' s fate was a result of the 

fortunes of war . He offered his ho'Jse and his friendship 

to Green and made him consider himself a guest of the 

General. He t o ld Green not to hesitate to call upon him 

for any service in his power . Green thanked the general 

and then tu rned to view the Texan rifles piled in the 

23 
plaza of Mier . 

Two men , Privates Chalk and St . Clair , hid them­

selves behind a pile of cane stacked in the building hey 

were defending and slipped out of town in the night . 

Though St . Clair sprained his ankle , the two made their 

way safely b ack to the Texan camp on the north bank of 

the Rio Grande and warned the camp guard . Even hough 

warned , hey remained on the river until the arrival of 

the exican cavalry sent out to bring them in . With the 

arrival of the cavalry the Texans broke camp and retreated 

2 3Ibid . , 10~-- 105 . 
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nor thward towards the Nueces . Two o f the rear guard ) 

Major Bonnell and Private Hicks ) were captured and returned 

to the site of the ir camp on the Rio Grande . Hicks man aged 

to es cape but ajor Bonnell was shot . 24 

The Texans were placed in three small dirty rooms 

a f ter their surrender with approximately one hundred men 

in each room . The offi cers and staff were given parole 

and p ermitted o walk freely about the town . Green records 

t hat he visi ed the men on several occasions ) i ncluding 

the wounded who were housed in the church . There were also 

some Mexi can wounded in the church . Green said he coun ed 

1 36 Mexican soldiers lying in the church and all were 

suffering from head wounds which Green said attested to the 

mar ksmanship o f the Texas riflemen . The Texans had 261 

men engaged i n the Battle of Mier and suffered 10 kil l ed 

a n d 23 wounded . Reports from the Mexican defense minister 

ab out he number of Mexican troops in the battle and the 

numb e r kil l ed vary . Arnpudia claimed 1700 men participated 

on the exi can side . Texan sources put the number at 2340 . 

Ampud i a J however ) d i d not include Canales ' 800 Defensores . 

As t o casualties the reports are even more hazy . Green 

put s the _exican losses at 800 k i lled and wounded . 0 her 
25 

reports vary i n ' h eir estima es from 800 to 850 . 

24 
' d 1 15 Ibl . , . 

2 5Gre en , J ourna l , 107- 108 . 
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Following the surr ender , Colonels Fisher a nd Green 

wer e summoned to General Ampudia ' s headquarters to sign 

the Articles of Capitulation which were being drawn up by 

Colonel Canales when they arr ived . The Texans joined the 

genera l in partaking of coffee a nd chocolate while wa i t ing 

for him t o finish . Co lonel Green relates that the adjutant 

o f the Mexican a rmy lay on the fl oor of the head qua rters 

wri thing in the agony of death . General Ampudi a cr i ed as 

h e informed them that "there is my s on , the hope of the 

army , the pride o f the serv i ce . He h as a de a th - shot thr ough 
26 

the kidneys , and must soon die . " Gre en replied that , 

"i t was the f ate of war and the bra ve i n al l r anks share -----
27 

our sympathy . 11 When Co l one l Canales finished writing 

ou t the Articles of Cap i t ulat i on he p assed them to Genera l 

Ampudia who signed them first . They read as f ol l ows : 

Ag r eeable to the conference I had with 
General Will i am S . Fisher , I have decided 
to g r ant , 

1s t . That all who will g ive up the ir 
arms will be treated with t he c onsideration 
which is in accordance with the magnanimous 
Mexic an nati on . 

2nd . That conformably to the pe t i tion 
which the s a id Genera l Fisher h a d made to 
me , a l l persons belonging to the Santa Fe 
Expedition will receive the same treatment 
and guarantees as the rest . 

26Ibid . , 105 - 106 . 

27 I bid . , 106 - 107 . 

--------------------



3rd . All who desire to avail themselves 
of these terms will en er the

8
square and 

there deliver up their arms . 2 
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Green reported that when the interpreter read the 

articles to the Texas offi ers the first article was 

changed to read , "with all the honor and consideration of 

29 
prisoners of wa r , 11 rather than as the art icle actually 

was written . Had they known he exact word i ng they would 

have refused to sign it until it was altered to read as it 

was translated . 

The f ollowing evening Colonel Fisher penned the 

f ollowi ng no e to General Ampudia : 

Sir , The f orces which , through the 
chances of war , I now surrender to you , are 
composed of he most valiant and intelligent 
c i tizens o f Texas . Th ey have contended man ­
fu lly against your superior force , and have 
y i elded only when it was deemed folly longer 
to contend . 

Your well - established char acter as a 
bra v e and magnanimous off i cer is a certain 
guaran tee to me that they w301 be treated 
as brave men deserve to be . 

The final judgement on the Battle of Mie r is 

aptly r endered by two partic i pants , Gener a l Green and 

Private George Lord . Green stated that , 

.. the b attle of Mier in i ts moral 
and political consequences to our country was 
a glorious triumph . It was there that the 

28
Ibid ., 106 . 

29william s . Fisher to Pedro de Ampudi a . I bid ., 107 . 

30Gre en , JournQl , 110 . 



people of Texas demons rated the entire 
prac icabili y of conquering and holding the 
rich valley against immense odds . It was 
there that the people of Texas pursued and 
fought hem nine to one , killing treble heir 
own nwnbers , and proving themselves invincible 
to everything bu duplicity and treachery ; 
and it was there tha the Texian made the 
sound of his rifle and death synonymous terms 
throughout Mexico . 31 

Lord commented , 

The established fact though some have 
tried to dim the lustre and tarnish the 
laurels won by the band of patriots that the 
battle of Mier was by far the best fought 
battle of the Texan Revolution , the only one 
f ought on exican soil and the last gun 
f ired by Texans for Texan Independence . 32 
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It is obvious from hese accounts that the men who 

f ought at 1ier never considered themselves to be f ree ­

b ooters , but soldiers in the military forces of the 

Republic of Texas . It is evident that they never expected 

t heir government and their country to disown them as it 

would later do . 

3libid . , 1 11 . 

32 4 George Lord , Reminiscences , 13 . 



CHAPTER V 

THE OFFICERS MARCH 

All of the Texan prisoners were marched from Mier 

to Matamoros beginning on December 31 . At Matamoros the 

Mexi can leade rs decided to send Colonels Fisher and Green 

and their staff officers ahead to Monterrey as hostages 

f or the good behavior of their men . Fisher and green in­

f ormed the Mexican commander that while they would prefer 

to stay with their men they would comply with the order . 

Prior to their departure from Matamoros , Fisher 

and Green penned the following letter to their men : 

Fellow Prisoners , It has fallen to our 
lot to become the captives of the n ation with 
wh ich we are at war . This is the for tune of 
that poli c y ; and though our condition is 
incident to these privations , let us bear up 
under them with the fortitude of men . Let us 
nerve our souls in the impregnable armour 
which lightens the weary limb , and which the 
s teel of our enemy cannot penetrate . That 
immoral spirit will make us superior to our 
conditi on , and triumph over our misfor unes . 
Recollect that the best nations of the world 
h a v e battled with each other , and the best men 
have been in like condition with ourselves . 
Indulge , therefore , all r easonable hope in the 
magnanimity of our enemy , and in that justice 
whi ch is the all prevailing providence of God . 

Today, countrymen , it is the pleasure of 
our captors that we should be parted , and sent 
on in advance to the capital . A long and 
weary journey lies before us . The gloom of 
the pr ison and the f a tigue of this thousand 
miles of space we embrace as pleasures in 



comparison to this cruel separation with y ou , 
who have nobly battled fr your country 
and shared every danger . 
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Before leaving Matamoros the Texan officers were 

forced by General Ampudia to wa£n the ir men of the conse ­

quences of any attempt to escape , because he had been 

informed such an attempt was being considered . However , 

whe~ Cameron asked Colonel Fisher how he felt about an 

escape attempt Fisher replied that he should '' use his own 

judgement .
112 

Colonel Green declared that " as they re ­

garded my friendship , their own condition , and the honour 

of their country , to let no opportunity slip in over ­

p owering their guards and getting home , and to do so 

r egardless of any consequence to myself . 11 3 

On their way to Monterrey , the only bad treatment 

r eceived by the officers ' party was at the town of 

Cai dereta near Monterrey . There they were given no 

bedd ing because they refused to exhibit themselves to the 

townspeople . When the officers ' party arrived in onterrey , 

Co l onel Green penned a final note to General Ampudia 

whi ch referred to the inciden t as fol l ows : 

Having safely a r rived thus far on our 
wa y to the capital , we desire to express to 
y ou our sincere · hanks for the generous 

1 
Thomas Jefferson Green 

Expedition Against Mier , 127- 21 

2
I bid . , 127 - 129 . 

3rbid . , 130 . 

Journal of the Tex i an 



courtesies which , mainly through your kind ­
ness , we have met upon the road . At 
Caidereta only have we been treated in a 
different manner , and his , we understand , 
has been induced by Colonel Canales . Of 
that treatment we do not complain ; bu 
when he colonel makes himself the HERO 
OF MIER , we feel much humiliation in the 
i mputation that we surrender to him . We 
s corn such a reflection for that gentleman 
h ad an opportuni y at Guerrero , with three 
h undred troops , to meet f i fty of us and 
dec l ined it . Colonel Fisher and officers 
joined me in the hope that General Ampudia 
entertai ns a better opinion of the ir 
ga l lantry than to believe that such a 
thing could be possible to surrender to him 
who once deceived Texans . 

We f urther des i re to tender through you , 
t o Co l onel Savr i ego , officers , and troops , 
who h ave thus far accompanied us , our heart ­
f e l t t h anks for thei4 soldier - like conduct 
a n d many kindnesses . 

The stay of the Texan off i cers in Monterrey 

app ears to have been a v ery p l easurable on e as Co l on el 

Green ' s journal is full of accounts o f the ir s oc i al 

activ i t i es . On January 28 the of f i cers were moved to 

Sa l t illo where they arr i ved on the 30th . The r e they 

f ound six Texans who had been captured p r i or to t h e battle 

of Mie r . Three had been captur e d b y General Wol l at San 

An t oni o a nd h e othe r three at ~he Battle of Sal ado . On e 

of t h e s e men , George Van Nes s , was t aken a l ong wi t h he 

Mier offi ce rs as an inte r p r e er and the oth e r fi ve 

4Thoma s Jefferson Green o Pedr o de Amp ud i a , 
J an ua ry 23 , 1843 , Ibid . , 130 . 
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r emained in Saltil l o until the arrival of the-enlisted 

men of the Mier group and were then marched with them to 

Mexico City . 

On February 6 the officers ' party took up the 

march to exico City again with the next stop at San Luis 

Potos i . However , the enlis tees caught up with the ir 

officers briefly at Hacienda Salado and were allowed to 

visi t their commanders . They told F i sher and Green of 

heir n ew plan of escape at mi dnight . Co l one l Fisher 

opposed the plan but told Captain Cameron once again , 

" to use his own good sense in the matter . rr 5 Colonel Green 

f a vo r ed the i dea but advised them to wait until dawn as 

i t would be easier to get t he horses and then keep t o the 

r oad f or a f ast escape . Capta in Reese was against the 

plan because he fel t hat the Texans were too deep in to 

Mexico . 

The officers ' p a r t y left Hacienda Salado ten 

minutes before sunrise and were three quarters of a mile 
6 

away when the Battle o f the Re s c ue began . Shortly after 

the battle began , a messenger arrived at the place where 

the officers ' p a rty h ad h a l t ed a nd delivered the order 

f rom Colonel Ba rragan to hav e the offi ce rs shot . However , 

Capta in Roman o , comma nder of t he guard detail refused o 

5rbid . , 146 . 
6rbid . 



execute these orders . 

On the 20th of February the officers arrived in 

San Luis Potosi , where they were permitted to write to 
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the governor about their treatment . They complained that 

they were being treated like common criminals and not as 

prisoners of war . They protested about being locked up 

in a bare cell , denied refreshments , subjected to a 

quadrupled and noisy guard detail , denied privacy , and 

provided with an extremely small al l owance . These protests 

met with some success as the treatment of the officers 

thereafter improved somewha . 

One of the worst situations the officers had to 

endure on the remainder of the march was experienced at 

Arroyo Saco . What occurred here is described in a letter 

from Fisher and Green to the command of the escort force 

taking them to Mexico City . 

We have been placed in a miserable barn , 
where the dust and vermin are insufferable , 
and we take this means of requesting he 
gracious privilege o f sleeping upon the pave ­
ment in t he open cour t . We have not t i me now 
to remonstrate against conduct which is in 
such fl agrant violation of the art i cles of 
capitula ion and o f every principle of 
civilized warfare . 7 

When the offi ce rs ' party reached the Valley of 

Mexico on March 15 , it was aken to the suburban town of 

Tacubaya . Here they first learned of Santa Anna ' s original 

7colonels Fisher and Green to Colonel of the 
Guards at Arroyo Saco , Ibid ., 267 . 
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o r der to h a ve all prisoners t aken at Mi er shot . Thi s order 

h ad been issued af er the recapture of the pri soners who 

escap ed at Hacienda Salado . At the same t ime they learned 

of he l etter of President Sam Houston to Pres i dent Santa 

Ann a in which he dec l ared , rrtha though the Mier men had 

entered exico against his ord e rs , and wi t h out the authority 

8 
of l aw , y et he begged mercy for them . 11 Further evidence 

of Houston rs denial o f responsibility f o r the Mier prisoners 

was given in his letter o f January , 1844 to the United 

States House of Representa ives . In this letter Houst on 

opp o s ed a bill f o r the relief of Captain William G. Cooke , 

one o f the Mier offi cer s . 

The Exe cutive regret s to find himself 
under the necessity of withholding his assent 
fr om t h e bil l for the relief of William G. 
Cooke , l ate act ing quartermaster genera l . 
The re a s on which impel him to do s o a r e , as 
he conce ives , of t he most forcible cha racter . 

In the firs t place , the government never 
promised those who should part i cipate in the 
late campaign to the Rio Grande anything more 
than authority to march , such ammun i t i on and 
arms as cou l d be furnished , and t he spoils 
acquired fr om the enemy , according to the 
l a ws of c ivilized warfare . This fact is shown 
b y the accompanying note from the secretary of 
war and mar ine , which is intended to form a 
p a rt o f thi s message , and the published de ­
claration s o f t he Exe cut ive himself . In an 
address to the people of Texas , dated July , 
1842 , a nd published in the newsp a pers o f the 
day the Execu ive rema rked , in reference to 
the ' con t emplated expedition , that , 11 the 

8creen , Journal , 478 . 



government will promise nothing but the 
authority to march , and such supplies of 
ammunition as may be needful for the 
campaign . They must look to the Valley 
of the Rio Grande for°remunerat:Lon . The 
government will claim no portion of the 
sp o ils : they will be divided among the 
vict or s . The flag of Texas will accompany 
the expedition . 

From this it will be perceived that 
the government was guarded against incurrin g 
any pe cuniary responsibilities on account 
of the campaign ... F o r this reason t hey 
were authorized to cross the Rio Grande , 
"and make such reprisa ls up on Mexico as 
civilized and honorable warfare would 
justify in the relat i ons t hen existing with 
the common enemy . rr The Execut ive k.ne11 full 
well at t h at period , as he does now , that 
the me an s of the country could not sustain 
the expense of the expedi t ion , and hen c e he 
based his call to the c i t izen - s oldiers of 
the Republic upon wha t he believed to be 
their patriot i c desire and read iness to 
engag e in the under taking ; and because he 
knew the i nability of the country to pa y 
them for their services , he pla inly told them 
they mus t l ook , "fo r remunerat ion to the 
Valley of the Rio Grande . rr 

... It is just that all should be 
re garded on t he same footin g , and the claims 
of n o one preferred to those of all the 
r est . The widows and orphans of t he brave 
and unfo rtunate decimated have n~t petitioned 
congress for p a y or relief , etc . 

This letter wa s ci t ed by Green as further proof 

87 

of Sam Houston's desire to absolve himself of any responsi ­

b i li ty for the Mier expediti on . 

When the Mier officers were visited by the British 

minister , Mr . Packenham , he was asked by Colonels Fisher 
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and Green to intercede with Santa Anna for the relea se of 

the members of the Mier prisoners who were British s ubjec ts . 

Packenham promised to do what he could for these men bu t 

he cautioned them that it would b e diffi cult because t he 

men h ad v o l untarily taken up a rms against Mexico . Green 

told Packenham that he f elt that he men h ad become resi ­

dents of t he Republic of Texas and under those circumstances 

h ad to obey the laws of the Republic which required them 

to be a r arms in her defense or relinquish certain govern ­

mental benefi t s which they enjoyed at the pleasure of _the 

Republ i c . Packenham t hen repeat ed h i s promise to do what ­

e v er he could to help thos e of he Mier pris oners who 

wer e Br itish subjects and l a ter did secure the r elease 

10 
of f our of them . 

On March 18 the Mier off i cers were marcl1ed from 

Tac ubaya to the i r fin a l place of imprisonment at the 

Cas t l e of Perote . During the ma r ch the off icers lear ned 

that General Waddy Thompson , the United States Mi n i ster 

t o Mexi co , had r eceived the Art i c l es of Capi tulation 

sign ed b y Colonel F i sher a nd Gene r al Ampud i a at Mier so 

they r equested h i m to transmi t a copy to t h e Mexican 

Minis te r o f War . I t was at this t i me that they l earned 

t h at h e guarantees conta ined i n the a r t i c l es had been mis ­

r epresented by General Ampudi a and dis r egarded by he 

Mexican gove r nment . 

10 4 Green , Journal , 218 -220 ; 4 5 . 
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When they arrived at Perote , they joined the men 

taken p risoner by Woll at San Antonio who were also 

imprisoned here . Shortly after the ir arriva l the Mier 

offi cers were put in irons and info rmed that t hey would 

h a ve to go to work . They t h en lodged t his protest with 

their captors : 

We h a v e been ordered out by your 
officers to p erf orm unusual a n d degr ad ing 
lab o r . In the name of our country and the 
whole c iviliz ed world , we , as officers , 
solemnly protest against he imp os i t i on o f 
this degradation . 

We fur t h ermore respectfully protest , 
that , even were we willing tame ly to 
submi t to such a d i sgrace , for the h onour 
of our country we never would . 1 

Gov ernor - Gen e r a l Durand answered that he was acting 

i n accordance with orders from his government and would 

t r ansmit t h e officer s ' protest to his superiors . 

wnile Green spent s ome time penning le tte rs to 

prominent personages b oth in Texas and the United States 

des cribing the cond i tion of t he Mier men a nd a sking 

a i d in their behalf , most of his time was spent in 
12 

f ormulating and executing a pla n of es cape . On July 2 , 

Green and fif teen others dug through the wall of their 

cell block with chisels a nd crawled through it to freedom . 

11 
Green , Journa l , 253 . 

12Green , J ournal , 258- 295 . 



Once outside the castle they paired off , splitting two 

weeks ' rations which they had collected and each pair 

went on its own way . It had previously been planned 

to spljt up because smaller groups would be easier 

concealed when necessary . Of these sixteen men only 

three returned safely to Texas . 
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CHAPTER VI 

THE ENLISTED ME ESCAPE IN THE BATTLE OF THE RESCUE 

At three o ' clock in the a ftern oon o f the day they 

surrendered , the enlisted men of the Mier Expedition were 

ordered out of the ir quarters in ier a nd marched to the 

square . After being d is a rmed they were ordered against 

the walls of the courtyard . The ent rance was hen closed 

and the Mexican troops formed in front of their prisoners 

in two ranks , one a pace behind t he other . There ensued 

an ominous silence broken only by the pr i soners discussing 

the meaning of the f ormat i on . Af er one h our of waiting 

and wondering the prisoners were ma rched back to their 

p ri son . 

There was a rumor prevalent among them hat the 

Te xans had been condemned to death by Santa Anna and this 

wa s the re a son they had been marched into the square and 

stood against the wall . Accor ding to this rumor the 

execu ion had b een prevented by the i ntervention of General 

Ampud i a who c o~n ermanded the order on his own authority . 

After being imprisoned at Mier f or six days they 

were again assembled a nd ordered to begin marching to 

Matamoros . They were guarded b y a f orce which was descr i bed 

by on e o f the pr i soners as including " s i x hundred i nfantry , 

two h und r ed cava lry with two s i x - pounders commanded by 
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General Ampudia .

11 
According to Stapp , the ragged Texans 
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were f ormed into platoons for the march . 11 0n either fl a nk 

wer e f ormed columns of infantry and outs i de of these fi les 

of cava lry t h e Mex i can gene r al and staff , a n d in the re a r , 

the other piece of ord inanc e , simila rly manned , closed up 
2 

the cavalcade . 
11 

Up on ar riving at the town of Camargo the 

prisoners were paraded a r ound the town plaza severa l t imes 

for the benefi t of the local citi zenry and one prisoner 

r epor ted that people came from t wen t y miles away to view 

the II espa nto sos Tej anos . :, 3 

Sta rting the next day the Texans were marched another 

fif ty miles down river to the town of Nuevo Reynosa where 

they were met by offi c i als of the town . The official s 

conducted them into town where there was a n atmosphere o f 

fies ta with b a nds of Indian b oys dancing around t he square . 

"Ladies cheered fr om the housetops , men shouted , Indians 
4 

yelled . " Even the church bells were r ung in salute to the 

conquerors . Here Dr . Shepherd of the prisoners was g i ven 

a h o rs e and money by a priest whos e life he was suppose to 

have s a v ed at t he Ba ttle o f Mier . 

On Janua ry 9, the prisoners reached Matamoros where 

they were aga in greeted by t he spirit o f fi esta . Cr owds 

1willia m Preston Stapp , Prisoners of Perote , 30 . 
2 . 
Ibid ., 40 . 

3
Ibid . 

4 
Thomas W. Bell , Mier Expedition , 22 . 
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c ame ou from town to greet he Mexican army which they 

s aluted as the 11 Heroes of Mier 11 and to hiss and heap abuse 

on the prisoners . The streets were filled with spe ctators 

a n d the windows o f the build i ngs decorated with f ancy goods 

a nd Mexic an beauties . Lines of soldiers were f ormed on 

ei her side of the street to prevent t he prisoners fr om 

esc aping . As usual the p r i soners were conducted o the 

main square of the town a roW1d which they ma r ched three 

times before they were taken t o their quarte rs . The United 

States Consul visited t hem as did many other Americans 

r esiding in t h e own . By order o f General Ampudia on ly 

Ameri cans were allowed to visi t them . 

At Matamo r os eneral Ampudia turned custody o f his 

prisoners ov e r to a n other offi ce r f or the march to Monterrey , 

and the 1i e r prisone rs received he firs t n ot i ce of t he 

inten t i on o f h e Mexican gove rnment to march them to Mexico 

Ci ty . On January 14 they set out f o r Monterrey , escorted 

by General Canales a nd a guard of 500 men , of whi c h 400 were 

infantry and rest caval ry , a nd one cannon and a squad of 

a r tillerymen . These men were raw recruits which t he Texans 

fel t was the r eason f or the harsh treatment they received 

on the road o Mon errey . 
5 

After completing two hundred miles o f the distance 

to Monterrey the Mier prisoners reac hed the village of 

5stapp , Pris oners of Perote , 45 . 
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Sacata where it was decided to make a break for freedom . 

As the men felt tha t every mile they advanced into Mexico 

increased the difficulty of es ape , i had been decided to 

make the attempt at the first enc a mpment that offered an 

advantage ous situation . 
6 

The enca mpmen t at Sacata seemed to fill these 

r equirements : 

The cavalry were picketed in equal 
n umbers , on the left and in the rear of 
our pen . The infantry . . . guarded 
the right and fron t ... extending f r om 
t h e gates . .. some one hundred and 
fi fty yards t o the six- pounder , which , 
l oaded and pointed at the o~ly outlet and 
surrounded by artillerymen . 

Th e command of the attack was to be g i ven by Captain 

Ewen Cameron by saying the single word 11 draw . 11 When the 

Mexicans bearing the prisoner ' s food entered the corral 

Came r on declared , 'Draw your ration . " With this cry Cameron 

h a l ted the escape attempt before it began . The excuse 

given b y Cameron was that a few of the men i n his company 

h ad ap p ealed to him to postpone the break for freedom . 

The Mi er prisoners were particular l y we ll - treated 

at t he town of Caidereta . The prisoners were shown the 

g r e ate s t cons i deration and speeches were made prai sing 

Mexico by town o f f i c i als . I t was here that t he people 

6r bid . , 47-48 . 
7rbid . , 48- 49 . 

--------------------
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prevailed upon General Canales to remove the prisoners from 

the dark quarters into which tl1ey had been placed and to 

transfer them to more agreeable quarters . The Texans were 

aided and abetted by a certain Dr . Bullock who obtained 

f ood and obacco for them and showed great concern for 

t heir welfare . 

After two days , the march for Monterrey was resumed . 

They were met far in advance of their entry into Monterrey 

by crowds of people from the city . Once in the city the 

Mi er prisoners seemed to find life in Monterrey to be very 

agreeable as they were given bet er provisions and even some 
8 

c l othing . 

At Monterrey the prisoners ' escort was transferred 

fr om the command of General Canales to that of Colonel 
9 

Barraga n . This was a welcome change as Canales had fought 

against the Texans at Mier and was not we ll liked by them . 

Colonel Barragan , However , was generally better liked and 

considered to be more humane in his treatment of the 

prisoners as well as more sensit ive to the ir cond i tion . 

The guar d that was organized to take the Texans on to 

Salt illo and San Luis Potosi was made up of fresh conscripts 
10 

who were poorly trai ned and l acked any esprit de corps . 

8 
Ibid . , 49 - 54 . 

9rsrae l Canfield , Diary , 173- 174 . 

1 0stapp , Prisoners of Perote , 54 . 
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Af ter three days the march was re sumed , and a f ter 

making thirty miles the prisoners were halted at Rancho 

Rinconada which app eared to be f a vorable for an escape 

attempt . They were held i n the center court o f three 

c onne cted cour s whil e he front one was occup ied by the 

infantry and the rear court by the cavalry . The prisoners 

decided to make heir break at dawn when the cavalry would 

be makin g preparat i ons some dis tance away and the infan t ry 

could be disarmed before t he cavalry could react . However , 

in he morning the s o ldiers took prec a uti on s which mad e it 

apparen t that t hey had been betrayed . The identi~y of 

the informer was never p ositively determined , but the prime 

suspect was a f ormer Negr o slave named Sawney who was 

attached t o the Mexican army . He h ad gained access to the 

prisoners a nd won the confidence of s ome of them because 

of his profess i ons of sympathy f o r their cond i t i on . 

On February 10 , the Mier prisoners arrived at 

Hacien da Salado where cond i tions were aga in f avorab le f o r 

escape . Most of t he prisoners felt that t his would be 

their last chance to esc a pe , as hereafter they would be 

too f a r in to t he interior of Mexico f or any chance of success . 

Capt a in Cameron was again chosen ogive the signal and was 

i n charge of the attempt . Again i t seemed that Co lonel 

Barragan h ad been f orewarned of the Texan plans because 

he took he pre caution of doubling the guard but this time 
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his precautions were not enough to d issuade the prisoners 

from carrying out their plan . 

Af ter waiting only a few minutes Captain Cameron 

gave the signal for action by removing h is hat and shout -
11 

ing 11
~~ boys , we go it ! " The prisoners dashed through 

the doorway to the courtyard and seized t he muskets which 

were stacked there and quickly dispersed the Mexi can 

s oldiers killing two and wounding several others . Most 

of the guar ds and their officers fled to the protection of 

nearby buildings while others fled to t he plain . Several 

Texans h ad been killed by a g r oup of Mexicans who were 

firin g fr om behind the wall of t he cour tyard but most o f 

the Mexican rifles were empty and their ammun i t i on boxes 

were fille d with other t hings besides ammun i t i on . Dur i ng 

this "Ba tle of t he Rescue " the Negro Savrney made good his 

es cape to the dismay o f the pris oner s who wished to ma ke 

him p a y fer informing the exicans of the plan of esc ape 
12 

on the two previous occasions . 

As a result o f the esc a pe the Texans had acquired 

substan ial boot y which included some one hundred and 

sixty muskets a nd carbines, a dozen swords and pis tols , 

three mule load s of ammunit i on , one hundred mules and h o rses , 

provisions and $1 , 400 cash . With as much of the spoils as 

11 
Ibid ., 57- 58 . 

12Ibid . , 58 - 59 , 



t h e y could adequately hand l e the Texan s began march i ng 

n o r hward . 

Th ey had not gone f a r upon the road fr om Hac i enda 

Sa l ado when they encountered Colonel Bar ragan , himself , 

and a few cavalrymen . Bar ragan t ri ed to persuade his 

f ormer pri soners of t h e i mp ossib ili t y o f t heir esc aping 

fr om exico . Th o ugh h e f a iled to ch an ge t heir minds , 

t h ey relea s ed him unhar me d . He t r a iled t he escapees f or 

s evera l days a nd kept t he exi can a uth orities informe d of 

t h e Texa ns ' whe rea b out s f or s ome t ime f ollowing t heir 

e scape and the il l - f at e d mar c h t hrou gh t he moun t ains of 

Coahuila . 
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CHAPTER VII 

RECAPTURE AND THE -1ARCH TO MEXICO CITY 

The Mier prisoners began their flight to the Rio 

Grande in high spirits and covered seven y miles the fir st 

da y . About half of the men were mounted although some o f 

them were riding double . After having made some twenty 

addi tional miles the Texans a pproached a ranch where they 

wer e met by the bristling lances and carb ines of the Mexican 

cava lry ; they then turned northward . It seemed that no 

matter which way they went t hey were confronted by the 

1 campfires of the pursuing Mexican a r my . 

After losing two men due to sepa ration from the 

main b ody during a night march , the prisoners hired a 

Mexic an gu i de . The guide led t he Texans in a westerly 

direc t i on and eventual ly reac hed the Monc l ova road . I t wa s 

on this r oad that the Texans met an American who infor med 

t h em that Co l onel Barragan had spread the word of the Texans ' 

escap e to every r a nch a nd town wi thin a r a dius of t wo 

h undred miles nor t h and eas t of Hac i enda Salado . The alarm 

h ad been sounded throughout the countryside and the Texans 

h ad mad e i t thus f a r only bec a use the Mexican f orces were 

s t i ll largely un o r ganized . The Americ a n offered to help 

t h e p r is oners escap e and told them that if they should be 

1
stapp , Prisone r s of Perote , 60 . 
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recaptured they would be given no quarter by the Mexicans . 

The Texans decided to continue their flight 

bypassing several ranches along their route for fear of 

soldiers being present . They sent their guide on to one 

ranch to procure food for them , but he was seized by soldiers . 

The f ol l owing night the officers held a council to decide 

what their next move should be . They decided to go against 

the advice of Colonel Green and leave the main road to 

seek protection in the mow1tains . Although the majority 

of the men favored keeping to the road , they gave in to the 

minority who threatened to take to the hills if the council 

decided to stay on the road . Such a separation , it was 

fel t , would be disastrous for everyone ; therefore the entire 

group took to the mountains even though the barren pre ­

cipices of Coahuila could provide them with neither food 
2 

n or water . 

On the morning of February 14 the Texans began 

their trek through the rugged peaks of Coahuila where due 

to the lack of water it became impossible to make much 

progress . Searching f or water , the men began to wander 

f ar and wide . Those who became separated from the main 

pa rty were recaptured by the Mexican army . The main group 

of 70 under Captain Cameron kept to a northerly course . 

2 
Thomas W. Bell , MieT Expedition Narrati ve , 30 . 
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On h e 18th they stumbled into a camp of the exican army 

thinking i to be a friendly camp and were also captured . 3 

One hundred and eighty men had started out and one 

hundred were recaptured in a week ' s time . Thirty four were 

rec a p tur ed later and joined the main p arty at Paso Benado , 
4 

their place of impris onment . Only four men were able to 

escape as a resul t of the Battle of the Rescue . The rest 

were killed or could not be accounted for . 

One of the prisoners described the condition of 

the Texans at the time of their recap ture i n his diary : 

All half - naked -- some barefooted , and 
others with an odd shoe and s and le -- legs 
torn and lacerated by rocks and brambles -­
our h air and beards matted and bushy 
shading profiles cu down by hunger and 
s uffering to the pallid pinched a nd 
sharpened expression of death- - eyes sunk 
into the very beds of their sockets , and 
s parkling with Sitful light , half frenzied , 
half - f erocious . 

3Ibid . , 31. 
4
cap tain Pears on with eleven men bec ame separated 

f rom the ma in body while searching fo r water . Alexander 
and Thomps on were separated from this group . Pearson and 
his group were captured by a squad of Mexican Cavalry . 
Th ese two joined Major Oldham ' s party . Of the seven men 
o f Ol dham ' s party only Oldham and Alexander made it safely 
to San Antonio . Claudius Buster and John Toops were 
s ep arated from the main body on Feb . 17 . Afte r marching 
3 o r 4 days toward the Rio Grande they reached the Sa n 
Jua n River . They were captured at this point , sent to 
La r e do and then to Guerrero . Then they were sent to Mont ­
err e y and Saltillo a nd rejoined some of the prisoners 
af te r t h ree months a Sa n Luis Potosi . This group rejoined 
the mai n body later at Tacubaya . Houston Wade , lfotes and 
Fragments . of the ier Expedi ion , 33 - 39 , 82 - 83 . 

5stapp , Prisoners of Perote , 67 . 
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Up on rece iving the report o f the escape of the 

Mier prisoners Pres i den t Santa Anna issued orders that 

every Texan recaptured should be shot . These orders were 

n ot executed by t he Mexican cornmander Mexi a whose army re ­

cap ured he pr i soners . This kindness on t he part of the 

general was n ot for gotten by his captives , f o r one wrote 

in his diary , "Rec ollect ye Texans , t here are no t many 

off i cers under San ta Anna would d is obey an order . " 
6 

On March 1 , the Texans were back again in Saltillo 

where t h ey were confined until March 22 . When they were 

ma r ched once again to Hac i enda Salado the prisoners were 

under the command o f a regula r army unit under a Colonel 
7 

Ortiz . A r a in st o r m broke upon t he Hacienda and the 

prisoners were once more huddled into t he corral from which 

they ha d ma de their break for freed om. Soon a f ter they 

arrived , a n officer of the Mexic a n army entered the corral 

and beg a n reading a pronouncement fr om the supreme govern ­

ment of Mexico that reduc ed the execution of all recaptured 

pris oners to the execution o f every tenth man to be dec i ded 

8 
by lot . 

Following the reading of Santa Anna ' s pronouncement 

the pris oners were ordered to f al l b ac k into the shed of 

I sra el Canfield , Di a ry , 180 . 

? I bid ., 180 

8 
Thoma s W. Bell , Mier Expedition Narrat ive , 38 . 
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the corra l whe r e t h e y we r e plac ed under he a vy guard . A 

Mexic a n s o ldie r s oon e n te red t he corra l with a bench and 

an e a rthe n c r ock p l ac ing the bench in fr on t of the offic er ­

in - cha rge a nd the c r oc k up on it . 174 bea ns (which corres ­

ponde d t o the n umb e r of prisoners) wer e pla ced in the crock 

of which seven t een bea ns were blac k and the rest were white . 

A handkerchief wa s plac ed over the cr ock t o conc e a l the 

beans . Alis of the names of the prisoners in the order 

in which hey were re captured was handed t o the officer ­

in- cha rge . The first of the prisoners to draw was Captain 

Cameron who drew a white bean . As each ma n drew his name 

was recorded alon g with the color of the bean he had drawn . 

This went on until all the black beans were drawn . 9 By the 

time all the bla ck bea ns h a d been drawn seventy- five percent 

o f the total number had been dra wn . The men who drew black 

b eans were taken outside the corral and their shackles re ­

moved . Some of t heir luckier comrades were permitted to 

bid them fin a l farewells . A priest was sent o the condemned 

men to administer the last rites to any who wished to have 

t h em . Other than private prayers , no praying was permitted . 

At dusk the c ondemned men were escorted from the 

corral by two files of infantry , each file numbering about 

t wenty men . The seventeen unfortunates were led to the 

east wall of Hacienda Salado where they were blindfolded 

9s tapp , Prisone rs o f Perote , 72 - 73 . 

I 
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and f o r ced o their knees f ac ing their execut i oners . The 

men wer e executed in two groups , the firs t group consisted 

of nine men a nd the second of eight . One man who only re ­

ceived a flesh wound played dead until night f a ll when he 

made his escape . He travelled for several weeks before 

hunger and t hirs t dr ove him to surrender himself ; whereupon 
10 

h e was t aken to Saltillo and shot in the public plaza . 

The next day the rema ining prisoners were ordered 

to reswne their march to San Luis Potosi . The firs t over ­

n i gh rest was a t Hacienda San Juan where four of the 

pri soners were bapti zed in o the Catholic faith . Wi ll i am 

P . Stapp in his j ournal comments at this point upon the 

g r owi r.g i nfluence of catholicism on the Mier prisoners 
11 

f ollowi ng their capture . During this period the Texans 

a v eraged twenty to thirty miles per day . 
12 

In San Luis Potosi five of the prisoners died from 

illness and exhaustion . Here the prisoners were reunited 

wi t h t h ose of the i r group who had remained behind at 

Hac i enda Salado at the time of the escape . The march to 

Mexi co City b egan aga in on Ap r il 10 . The guard had been 

r einforced wi th a strong body of infantry and a contingent 

l OHouston Wade , Notes and Fragments of the Mier 
Exp ed i t i on , 150- 152 . 

11,rh omas w. Be l l. , Mie r Expedi ion Narrative , 40 . 

12 8 Sta p p , Prisoner of Perote , 74- 3 . 
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of raw recruits . Tula and Huehuetoca were the next towns 

on the Texan
1
s route . At Huehuetoca Captain Cameron was 

sepa r ated fr om the par t y and detained on April 25 when the 

prisoners departed the place . A f ew hours after t he 

prisoners had left Captain Cameron was executed by firing 

squad . Captain Cameron had been the l eader of t he escape 

at Hac ienda Salado . No r eason can be f ound f or his summary 

execution other than personal animos i t y on t he par t of 

President Santa Anna . 

On the same day a s the execution of Cameron the 

Texans were incarc e rated in t he conven t at Santiago, where 

all were curious as to t he experiences of the Texans and 

sympathetic to t he ir cond iti on . They sent out large quanti ­

ties of clothing and other supplies which was ve ry much 

appreciated by the Texans . 

The Texans were not so happy when they were informed 

that they would be required to perform labor f or t he Mexican 

government . The prisoners felt that this was a violati on 

of t he r ules of war concerning the treatment of prisoners 

of war . Work c lothes we re presented to the Texans which 

they refused . The next day , however , they r econsidered and 

accep ted the clothes . Nevertheless they were still opposed 

to performing for ced labor . They were visi ted at this 

time by the United States Minister who was informed of the 

demands of the Mexicans . The minis ter advised them to 

accept the clot hes and to do the wo rk . The Texans accepted 
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the clothes after b e ing told they would be forced to wear 

them if they d i d not do so voluntarily , a t the poin t o f 
13 

a b ayonet . 

The prisoners we r e next marched to Tacubaya which 

was the f a v orite residence of Pres i dent Santa Anna . The 

Texans were told that they we r e to be put to work paving 

a roa d lea ding from Mexico City to President Santa Anna ' s 

r esidence . This wa s a task that the prisoners resolved o 

perform as carelessly and ineffic ient ly as possible . After 

two mon t h s only one hundred yards of road were paved plus 

a few othe r scattered patches h e re and there . 

At Tacubaya Dr . Sinnickson was relea sed through the 

efforts of the American minister . As Sinni cks on was the 

on e who h ad borne the white fl ag to t he Texan army at Mier , 

Wi l l iam P . Stapp held him in some wa y responsible for the 

surrender . This was 0ot true , b ut Stapp and others felt 

t h at Sinnickson had exerted s ome kind of pressure on Fisher 

to get him to surrender . Sinnickson claimed that he only 

conveyed Ampudia ' s message . He felt that the Texans ' 

si tuation was unfavorable . He did not know that Ampudia 

was lying and was prepared to withdra w i f the surrender 

terms were not accepted . It seems that the Mexican officers 

a n d not Sinn ickson exerted more influence on Fisher . The 

off icers e v idently felt this wa y f or none o f them critized 

13rb id . , 83 -84 . 
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Sinnickson , not even he vociferous Colonel Green . The 

r ank anrt file , however , were not privy o the council of 

officers and felt that Fisher would never h av e considered 

s urrender had no . Sinnickson appeared with the white fl ag 

a nd conveyed the false infor ation from General Ampudia . 

The prisoners remained at Tacubaya only five more days 

after Dr . Sinnickson ' s release . At that time h e y were 

remov ed to the ir last place of confinement , the Castle of 

14 
Perote . 

14stapp , Prisoners of Pero e , 101- 102 . 



CHAPTER VIII 

I MPRISONMENT AT PEROTE 

On September 21 , 1843, the last o f t he Mi er 

prisoners entered the Castle of Perote . The majority would 

b e there f or almost one ye a r and a l though s ome of them would 

manage to e scap e from t he castle , most o f them would be re ­

capture d . On Ma r ch 25 , 1844 , sixt een more of the Mier 

prisoners would effect an escape fr om Perote , nine of whom 

would make good their escape , while s even would be re cap -
1 

tured by the Mexicans . 

Among the group remainin g at Pero te was Colonel 

Fisher who stayed at the castle until all o f the Mier 

prisoners were released . He refused to p a rticipat e in any 

o f t he escapes be cause he fel t his plac e was with his men . 

During the period of c?nfinement at Perote the release o f 

many of the men was secured by the ministers of both the 

Uni ted States and Gr eat Bri ain . 

On March 26 a letter arrived a Perote from Colone l 

Green notifying the prisoners that the Congress of the 

Republi c of Texas h a d a ppropriated $15 , 000 for their relief X 
in the previous December and another $15 , 000 for them the 

fo llowing February . This was encouraging and further lifted 

1Thoma s J . Green , Journal of the Texian Expedition 
Aga ins Mier , 450 . 
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heir morale which was already improved because of the 

release of the Bexar prisoners on March 23 . 2 

However , the Mier pris oners experienced a bitter 

disapp o in ment on June 13 , when their expected release was 

not forthcoming . It had been hoped by the men that Santa 

Anna might grant their release at this time in celebration 

of his birthday . A letter was sent soon t h ereafter to the 

Mi n ister of Great Britain composed by a committee of five 

men ( headed by Colonel Fisher ) who felt that their own 

governmen had forsaken them . 

Th e le ter of the Mier prisoners to the Br i t i sh 

mini ster at Mexico City described the attitude of the Mier 

pri soners in hese words , 

Th e undersigned , a committee of prisoners 
n ow confined in the Castle of Perote , believing 
t hat we a r e abandoned by our own government , have 
only the alternative left of appeal i ng to the 
min is ter of her Br i tannic majesty at the court of 
Me x i co to interfere with a view o f p u ting a 
te r mi nat i on to our suffering and imprisonment . 
Th e e vidence upon which our opinion i s based , 
that we a r e surrendered by our government , are , 
f i r s t , t h e le ter to your predecessor by the 
Ex e cut i ve of Texas , denouncing the Mier Expedition 
as a l awl ess band of adventurers , unsanctioned 
by the authorities of the country wh ence it came , 
a n d t h erefore unentitled to the consideration 
and protection which , by civilized u sage and of 
r i ght , b elong to prisoners of war . Secondly , 
his withholding the means appropriated by Congress 
f o r o ur rel i ef , when well app raised of our 
desti tute and unfortunate situa ion . Thirdly , 
h is e nt ire n eglec to make any exertion on our 
beha lf , either by way of mitigat i ng our hard fate 

2wi l li am P . Stapp , Prisoners o f Pero e , 127 . 
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o: P:ocuring our release . The only anxiety , 
within the knowledge of the undersigned evinced 
~y President Houston for the Texian pri~oners , 
is to be found in the letter above referred to 
which resulted in the melancholy , tragic scene ' at 
the Ranch Salado , where were executed in cold 
blood seventeen as brave men as ever enlisted in 
t~e holy

3
cause and under the sacred banner of 

liberty . 

The lo of the Mier prisoners in the Castle of 

Perote was probably not as bad as the committee pie ured 

i to the British minister . The men who worked in the 

carpenter shop were actually paid for their labor at the 

r ate of $7 . 50 per month . When on August 1 , 1844 the rate 

was reduced to $4 . 50 the workers refused to work . As a 

r esult the prisoners were chained together in pairs and 
4 

put to work packing sand . 

In general , however , the conditions were un ­

necessarily harsh . For his reas on the prisoners nursed a 

great resen tment oward those who they felt were respon ­

sible for heir misery and also toward those who seemed 

unconcerned over their plight . 

Five prisoners were released on Augus 22 , but 

the r elease of the remaining prisoners did not finally come 

unt il September 16 , 1844 . 5 The Mexican commander never 

3Thomas Jefferson reen , Journal of the Texian 
Exped i t i on Agains 1ier , 461 - 462 . 

4Glasscock Diary II , 235 ; also Thomas W. Bell , Mier 
Expedition Narrative , 93 , 

5Bell Tier Expedition Narrative . 75 . , - - ---=------
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informed the Texans tha they were to be released until the 

appointed day . A description of t he scene at Perote Castle 

at he time of the Mier prisoners ' release is recorded by 

Thomas Bell in his n a rrat ive . 

At three o ' clock in he afternoon he Mier 
pri soners were paraded in double file in the 
center of the central square of Castle Perote . 
One - half hour later they took the oath of parole 
not to take up arms against the governmen of 
Mexi co again during the war . The oath was taken 
and signed by each man individually . Each was 
g iven one dollar to get him from Perote to Vera 
Cruz . Each was furnished a passport . An order 
was issued o Mexican citizens enjoining it upon 
them to treat th@ libera ed Texans as friends and 
f e llow - citizens . 

At five o ' clock in the afternoon the last of the members of 

the Mier Expedition , consist ing of one hundred and ten men , 

. 7 
wer e formed by r ank and file . The regular troops of the 

garrison were paraded and gave the prisoners a par t ing 

cheer . Both Mexicans and Texans shouted "Viva el Presidente 

,,8 
de la Republ i ca de Mexicana . 

One h undred and ten men left the Castle of Perote 

of t he or i ginal number of 263 who had crossed the Rio Gr ande 

in 1842 . Eighty four men had perished from one cause or 

another while in Mexico , besides those who had been killed 

at Mier and at Hacienda Salado . This total also excludes 

6
Ibid . 

7 Green , Journa l , 477 . 

8Bell, Mier Expedition Narrat ive , 76 . 
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those executed at Hacienda Salado . 

Those released by order of Santa Anna on 

Sep tember l o made their way to Vera Cruz with the excepti on 

of a few who either remained in exi co o r followed another 

route to Texas . Most o f the prisoners arrived in Vera 

Cruz on October 5 . On October 5 they sailed from Vera Cruz . 

They arrived in ew Orleans on October 22 and made their 

way back to Texas . 9 

9Bell , Mier Expedition arrative , 76 . 



CHAPTER IX 

SUMMARY AND CONCLUSION 

From the accounts and reports which the members of 

t h e Mier expedition left to posterity i t i s evi dent that 

they d isagreed with Sam Houston ' s evaluation of their 

Mexi can i nvas i on . The Mier me n felt that t h ey were obeying 

the orders of the ir commander - in - chi e f as they interpreted 

t h o s e orders . Gener a l Somervel l had b een a very weak 

comma nder and the majority of those wh o chose to join in 

t h e attack on Mie r f elt he had not only bungled t he e n t ire 

campai gn but had f a iled to achieve the ultimate objectives 

f o r wh i c h the exped i t i on had been organized . 

Whether the r eal objectives of the expedition 

t o the southwest as conceived by President Houston wer e 

attained is open to ques~ i on . Tha t Somervell intended that 

t h e radical s tated objectives would n ot be attained seems 

ind i sputable . Whethe r he had received secret instruct ions 

fr om Sam Houston ordering him to see to it that t he ex ­

ped i ion was l imited cannot be positively proven . These 

f acts , however , do seem clear . First , the expedition to 

the sou hwest d id h ave orders to ma rch to the Rio GTande 

a n d cross it if necessa ry in order to harass and c hast ise 

Mexico for her depredations on the c iti zens of Texas . 

Second , the expedition was to proceed down the Rio Grande 

as f ar as Matamoros if possible before returning h ome . 
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Third , the men of the Army of the Southwest were told to 

look to the Valley of the Rio Grande for remuneration for 

servic es rendered . Fourth , General Somervell ' s efforts to 

curb the zeal of his men for revenge on the Mexicans fail ­

ed and as a result he subsequently gave up and withdrew 

from the expedition . Fifth , General Somervell while dis ­

claiming responsibility did give his expressed permission 

to certain of his subordinates to continue the expedition 

pursuant to a satisfactory conclusion at their own risk . 

I n view of the above facts it would seem that the 

Mier prisoners were justified in claiming the rights and 

treatments due them as prisoners of war . It follows then 

that as prisoners of war the Mier prisoners were still 

members of the armed forces of the Republic of Texas and 

the President of the Republic had no right to publicly 

disavow responsibility for them . 

I t i s understandable that-President Houston would 

want to spare the R~public of Texas a war wi th Mexico . 

Thi s could have been avoided however , without condoning 

h e treatment of the Mier prisoners as common criminals 

an d renegades . In fairness to Houston it must be pointed 

out here that he most certainly had l i ttle knowledge if 

any of the Mier prisoners ' escape nor of President Santa 

Anna ' s plans for punishing them . 

I t was a tragic state of affairs that he lier 

pr isoners had to rely upon the good offices of foreign 
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ministers rather than on their own government to obtain 

such redress of grievances as was obtained . The Republic 

of Texas seems derelict in not using the offices of the 

United Sates and Great Britain in se uring better treat ­

ment as well as the release of the Mier prisoners . The 

final releas e of the Mier prisoners in September of 1844 

was due almost entirely to the i ndependent efforts of the 

Unit ed States Minister and to a lesser extent his British 

counterpart . Thi s is amply demonstrated by the numerous 

accounts of eneral Thompson ' s efforts contained in Thomas 

W. Be l l ' s narrative . 

The most unforgivable action of Pre sident Houston 

was to deny the benefits voted by the Congress of the 

United States to Captain William G. Cooke . The Mier 

pri soners felt that Sam Houston seemed to be going out of 

his way to affront them by this action . If what Houston 

really wanted was a peace treaty with Mexico ; he certainly 

would have had the support of the United States and Great 

Brita i n anyway . 

In conclusion , the expedition to the Southwest 

and i ts Mier expedition appendage was organized and con ­

ducted in order o placate the settlers on the southwestern 

front i er and the critics of Sam Houston . I t also served 

to give Texas some justification for claiming the Rio 

Grande as her southern and western b oundary . The expedition 

was conduced in such a way as to incur the least expense 
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to the Republic of Texas and a tain only limi ed objectives . 

The Mier expedition resulted from he frustra ion of the 

three hundred men who felt the Somervell camoaian had no 
~ 0 

attained its ultimate objectives . They were members of 

t h e Army of the Southwest who , with the permission of the 

highest authority then present , sought to salvage some 

o f the lost prestige of the expedition . That their entry 

i nto Mexico had been previ ously authorized by the President 

o f he Republic of Texas has been proven . That they also 

h ad i nstructions to look to he Rio Grande Valley for 

r emuneration has been substantiated as well . Had these 

two precondi ions not existed it is doubtful that the Mier 

e xpedition would ever have been attempted and without them 

t h e Mi er men would not have expected to be treated as 

pri soners of war . 

If any fault can be fow1d in the Mier men , it must 

b e on e of judgement . They misjudged the will and the 

c a p ab i lity of the Mexican army to resist their encroachment 

upon the cities south of the Rio Grande . Once cap ured 

t he Mier prisoners were again the vict i ms of poor judge ­

ment i n the timing and conduct of the escape operation . 

The y waited too late to make their escape and , when the 

es cape was made , contributed to heir ultimate failure by 

not s taying with the routes with which they were fam i liar . 

Th e Mi er men blinded by desire for revenge and ma ­

t e rial g~in embarked upon a second operation on their own 
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ini tiative . They embarked upon the operation with the 

permission of their field commander , but wi h realization 

that their specific action was wi hout sanction from any 

higher authority . Thus the ier men had a questionable 

mili tary standing , but they marched under the Texas flag 

and the orders of the President of the Republic of Texas 

as they interpreted them . Their foolhard iness deserved 

no pra is e , but neither did it warrant ab andonment to the 

harsh treatment of a hostile nation , nor the branding of 

the men as r enegades without the protect i on of t he c ount ry 

to which t hey claimed a llegian ce . 
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